
BPH Energy Limited

APPENDIX 4E - PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT 

Name of Entity BPH Energy Limited 

ABN 41 095 912 002 

Financial Year Ended Year ended 30 June 2025 

Previous Corresponding Reporting Period Year ended 30 June 2024 

Results for announcement to the market 
 $A'000 

Revenues from ordinary activities Down 0.8% to 837 

Net profit from ordinary activities after tax 
attributable to members (2024: $4,556,970 
profit)  

Up 49.0% 6,787 

Net profit for the period attributable to members 
(2024: $4,556,970 profit) 

Up 49.0% 6,787 

Dividends (distributions) Amount per security Franked amount per security 
Interim and final dividends Nil Nil 
Previous corresponding period Nil Nil 

Ratios 
2025 2024 

Profit before tax / revenue 
Consolidated profit from ordinary activities before tax as a % of revenue 811% 540% 

Profit after tax / equity interests 
Consolidated net profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to members as 
a percentage of equity (similarly attributable) at the end of the period 

17.6% 15.5% 

Net tangible asset backing per ordinary security (cents per share) 3.2 2.6 

Statement of comprehensive income 

Refer attached financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Statement of financial position 

Refer attached financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Statement of cash flows 

Refer attached financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Dividend reinvestment plans 

Not applicable. 

Statement of changes in equity 

Refer attached financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 

Gain or loss of control over entities 

Not applicable.. 
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BPH Energy Limited 

 
 
 
Associates and joint ventures 
 
Refer attached financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025. 
 
Commentary on results for the period 
 
Commentary on the above figures is included in the attached financial report for the year ended 30 June 
2025 in the Review of Operations (pages 2 to 8) and the Directors’ Report (pages 9 to 22). 
 
Status of audit 
 
The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2025 has been audited and is not subject to dispute or 
qualification.          
 
The Independent Auditor’s Audit Report includes the following Emphasis of Matter paragraph: 
 
“Emphasis of Matter - Material uncertainty related to the carrying value of the loan receivable from, and 
investment in, Advent Energy Limited  
 
We draw attention to Note 11 in the financial report, which indicates that a material uncertainty exists in 
relation to the Group’s ability to realise the carrying value of its loan receivable from, and investment in, 
Advent Energy Limited in the ordinary course of business. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 
 
Refer to the Independent Audit Report within the enclosed financial report. 
 

 

 
Sign here:  ............................................................ Date: 27th August 2025 

    Director 
 
 

Print name:  David Breeze  
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BPH Energy Limited (“BPH” or “Company”) uses funds raised to provide financial support to, and make direct 
investments in, a number of direct investees, associates, and related companies including Advent Energy Limited, 
Cortical Dynamics Limited, MEC Resources Limited, and Clean Hydrogen Technologies Corporation.  BPH’s 
capital raising activities during the year are set out page 10 of the Directors’ Report. 
 
The activities of BPH’s investees and associate companies during the period are set out below. 
 
Advent Energy Ltd (“Advent”), BPH 35.8%  
 
Advent is an unlisted oil and gas exploration and development company with onshore and offshore exploration 
and near-term development assets around Australia and overseas. 
 
PEP-11 Oil and Gas Permit Offshore Sydney Basin (85%) 
 
Advent Energy Limited’s (BPH 35.8% direct interest) 100% subsidiary Asset Energy Pty Ltd (“Asset”) is a 
participant in the PEP11 Joint Venture  with partner Bounty Oil and Gas NL (ASX:BUY). PEP-11 interests are: 
  
Advent Energy 85 % / Bounty Oil and Gas 15% 
 
Advent, through wholly owned subsidiary Asset Energy Pty Ltd (“Asset”), holds 85% of Petroleum Exploration 
Permit PEP 11, an exploration permit prospective for natural gas located in the Offshore Sydney Basin,  the other 
15% being held by Bounty Oil and Gas (ASX:BUY). 
  
PEP 11 is a significant offshore exploration area with large scale structuring and potentially multi-Trillion cubic feet 
(Tcf) gas charged Permo-Triassic reservoirs. Mapped prospects and leads within the Offshore Sydney Basin are 
generally located less than 50km from the Sydney-Wollongong-Newcastle greater metropolitan area and gas 
pipeline network. 
  
The offshore Sydney Basin has been lightly explored to date, including a multi-vintage 2D seismic data coverage 
and a single exploration well, New Seaclem-1 (2010). Its position as the only petroleum title offshore New South 
Wales provides a significant opportunity should natural gas be discovered in commercial quantities in this 
petroleum title. It lies adjacent to the Sydney-Newcastle region and the existing natural gas network servicing the 
east coast gas market. The total P50 Prospective Resource calculated for the PEP11 prospect inventory is 5.7 Tcf 
with a net 4.9 Tcf to Advent (85%WI). The two largest prospects in the inventory are Fish and Baleen. 
  
Advent has previously interpreted significant seismically indicated gas features in PEP11.  Key indicators of 
hydrocarbon accumulation features have been interpreted following review of the 2004 seismic data (reprocessed 
in 2010).  The seismic features include apparent Hydrocarbon Related Diagenetic Zones (“HRDZ”), Amplitude 
Versus Offset (“AVO”) anomalies and potential flat spots.  
  
In addition, a geochemical report has provided support for a potential exploration well in PEP11. The report 
reviewed the hydrocarbon analysis performed on sediment samples obtained in PEP11 during 2010. The 2010 
geochemical investigation utilised a proprietary commercial hydrocarbon adsorption and laboratory analysis 
technique to assess the levels of naturally occurring hydrocarbons in the seabed sediment samples. The report 
supports that the Baleen prospect appears best for hydrocarbon influence relative to background samples. In 
addition, the report found that the Baleen prospect appears to hold a higher probability of success than other 
prospects. 
  
Advent has demonstrated considerable gas generation and migration within PEP11, with the mapped prospects 
and leads highly prospective for the discovery of gas. 

On 6 August 2024 Asset, as operator for and on behalf of the PEP-11 joint venture partners, filed an Originating 
Application for Judicial Review in the Federal Court seeking the following: (i) a declaration that the Commonwealth-
New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (“Joint Authority”) has breached an implied duty by failing to 
make a decision under the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth) with respect to two 
pending applications relating to the PEP11 Permit, and; (ii) an order that the Joint Authority be compelled to 
determine the applications within 45 days. Asset alleges that the failure by the Joint Authority to make a decision 
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with respect to the First Application and the Second Application constitutes a breach of its duty to consider the 
applications within a reasonable time. 

On 18 September 2024 the Company announced that the Hon Ed Husic MP, Minister for Industry and Science, 
had advised that he has carefully considered the PEP-11 Exploration Permit applications under the Offshore 
Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth), namely the applications accepted on 23 January 2020 
and 17 March 2021, formed a preliminary view that the applications should be refused, and gave Asset, via the 
National Offshore Petroleum Exploration Authority (“NOPTA”), a statement of preliminary views with attachments 
and invited Asset to provide a response within 30 days. The statement of preliminary views included 45 annexures 
totalling 1608 pages. Due to the volume of the data provided to Asset, time was extended to 15 November 2024 
to provide submissions, which Asset subsequently made.  

Included in the material provided by Minister Husic was a copy of the NOPTA recommendation to the Joint 
Authority which recommended that the Joint Authority approve the Second Application. In the NOPTA Annual 
Report of Activities 2020-21 it was noted that 54 applications for COVID19 related suspensions and extensions 
were approved in that period. The Company understands that the Second Application (for COVID-19 relief) made 
in respect of the PEP-11 Permit was the only application outstanding. 

On 17 January 2025 the PEP-11 Joint Venture was given notice by NOPTA that the Joint Authority has refused 
the Joint Venture Applications made on 23 January 2020 and 17 March 2021. The PEP-11 permit will continue in 
force for a period of 2 months from 17 January 2025. The Joint Venture has statutory legal rights to seek a review 
of the decision referred to in the notice under the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006.  

On 12 February 2025 Advent applied to the Federal Court for an Originating Application for judicial review pursuant 
to section 5 of the Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 (Cth) and section 39B of the Judiciary Act 
1903 (Cth) to review this decision of the Commonwealth-New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority, 
constituted under section 56 of the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth). The 
Originating Application seeks:  

1. An order quashing or setting aside the Decision;  
2. A declaration that the Decision is void and of no effect; and  
3. An order remitting the First Application and Second Application to the Joint Authority for reconsideration 

according to law. 

On 17 March 2025 the Federal Court made orders by consent including the following: 

• By Wednesday 30 April 2025, the first respondent must file and serve one copy of a bundle of documents 
that was before the Hon Ed Husic MP as the Responsible Commonwealth Minister of the Commonwealth-
New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority in making the decision that is the subject of the 
Application, subject to any claim to privilege. 

• Other than the bundle of material, all evidence relied upon by the parties must be presented by way of 
affidavit.  

• By Wednesday 21 May 2025, the applicant must file and serve any further affidavits upon which it intends 
to rely at the hearing of the matter.  

• By 25 June 2025, the first respondent must file and serve any affidavits upon which it intends to rely at the 
hearing of the matter.  

• By 16 July 2025, the applicant must file and serve any affidavits upon which it intends to rely at the hearing 
of the matter by way of reply.  

• The Application be listed for a 2-day hearing at 10.15 am AWST on 16 September 2025 and 17 September 
2025.  
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• The applicant must file and serve an outline of submissions in chief and a list of authorities by 4.00 pm 
AWST not less than 42 days before the hearing. The first respondent must file and serve an outline of 
submissions in response and a list of authorities by 4.00 pm AWST not less than 14 days before the 
hearing.  

• The applicant must file and serve an outline of submissions in reply and a list of authorities by 4.00 pm 
AWST not less than 7 days before the hearing.  

• The first case management hearing listed for 10.00 am AWST on 19 March 2025 is adjourned to 9.30 am 
AWST on 23 July 2025.  

• Liberty to apply on 3 days’ notice to the other party.  

• Pursuant to subsection 15(1)(a) of the Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 (Cth), the 
operation of the decision of the Commonwealth-New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority 
comprised of the first respondent and the second respondent made on 16 January 2025 is suspended 
with effect from 16 January 2025, until further order of the Federal Court. 

The parties have complied with all programming orders and the matter is now listed for hearing on 16 and 17 
September 2025. 

PEP-11 continues in force and the Joint Venture is in compliance with the contractual terms of PEP-11 with respect 
to such matters as reporting, payment of rents and the various provisions of the Offshore Petroleum and 
Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth). 

EP 386 
 
Advent’s 100% subsidiary Onshore made an application for suspension and extension of the permit conditions in 
EP386 which was not accepted by the Department of Mines, Industry, Regulation and Safety (DMIRS). Onshore 
sought a review of the decision by the Minister of Resources who responded setting out a course of action in 
relation to that decision which Onshore followed. Onshore lodged an appeal against this decision with the State 
Administrative Tribunal (SAT). The SAT determined that it did not have the coverage to hear the appeal and the 
decision allowed for the matter to be determined through a Supreme Court of WA action.  
 
Onshore Bonaparte Basin RL 1  
 
Advent has been evaluating the commercialization of RL1 and intends to convert the Retention Licence into a 
Production Licence. The licence is 100% operated by Advent Energy’s wholly owned subsidiary Onshore Energy 
(“Onshore”) and was extended in May 2024 for 5 years, It was granted a 12-month variation and suspension for 
12 months across each of the years in March 2025. Onshore negotiated a Cultural Heritage Management 
Agreement with the Traditional Owners enabling a maintenance and monitoring visit to the suspended Weaber-4 
well to take place in June 2025.  Information gained from the visit is being used to plan the well intervention / 
abandonment of the well in Q3 2026.  
 
This intervention is planned to include acquisition of a Vertical Seismic Profile from the well, the data from which 
will be used to finalise the location of future production wells and, in conjunction with petrophysical analyses of log 
data from the previously drilled wells in the field, may lead to an upward revision of the Weaber Gas Fields 
contingent recoverable resource of 11.5 Bcf as identified by RISC in 2011.   
 
In June 2023 OE entered into a hydrocarbon process agreement with Clean Hydrogen Technologies Corp (CHT) 
whereby both parties propose to develop plans whereby CHT processes the hydrocarbons from Onshore's Rights 
to the produce value adding hydrogen and carbon black. 
 
Previous marketing work across the hinterland of the Weaber Gas Field has identified target buyers for the current 
2C resource of 11.5 Bcf, however should the resource be increased significantly, a tie in to f the gas pipeline 
network will be evaluated.  
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The Well Operations Management Plan (WOMP) and Environmental Management Plans for the intervention and 
abandonment of Weaber-4 are in progress and anticipated to be approved before the end of calendar year 2025.  
 
Clean Hydrogen Technologies Corporation (“CHT”), BPH 16.2% 

On 2 August 2022 BPH announced that, following its shareholders’ meeting on 21 June 2022 at which 
shareholders voted unanimously to approve an investment in hydrogen technology company Clean Hydrogen 
Technologies Corporation (“Clean Hydrogen” or “Vendor” or “Borrower”), BPH and its investee Advent Energy Ltd 
(“Advent” or “Lender”), together the “Purchasers”, settled for the acquisition of a 10% interest in Clean Hydrogen 
for US$1,000,000 (“Cash Consideration”) (8% BPH and 2 % Advent). 

The Purchasers had a first right of refusal to invest further in Clean Hydrogen to a maximum of a further 
US$1,000,000 for an additional 10% equity interest. The Purchasers loaned US$950,000 (“Additional Cash 
Consideration”) under this agreement. The Purchasers and Clean Hydrogen executed a Loan Conversion 
Agreement dated 23 October 2023 to convert the US$950,000 loan into the relevant Subscription Shares Tranche 
2, representing the Purchasers further 9.5% interest in Clean Hydrogen. As a result of ASX’s decision to exercise 
its discretion under Listing Rule 10.1, BPH had to seek shareholder approval for the Loan Conversion Agreement, 
which was obtained at a shareholders’ meeting held on 4 October 2024. BPH now has an interest of 16.2% and 
Advent has an interest of 4.3% interest in Clean Hydrogen (subsequent to the exercise of their share options in 
Clean Hydrogen).  

Clean Hydrogen have issued 760 share options to BPH and 190 share options to Advent, with an exercise price 
of USD$3,000 each, exercisable immediately, with the option to convert into shares in Clean Hydrogen expiring 
ten years from the date of issue. During the period BPH exercised 72 of these options by paying Clean Hydrogen 
a total exercise price of US$216,000. 

The parties acknowledge and agree that the Cash Consideration and Additional Cash Consideration shall be used 
by Clean Hydrogen to design, build, produce and test a reactor that can produce a minimum of 3.2kgs and as high 
as 15kgs of hydrogen per hour and to submit at least 2 new patents in an agreed geography, relevant to the 
production of hydrogen from proprietary technology. 

At a proof-of-concept scale, Clean Hydrogen has developed and tested its processing capabilities which have 
successfully produced hydrogen, with no C02 emissions achieving on average a 92% cracking efficiency. Clean 
Hydrogen’s development activities have shown that, by processing (not burning) methane using their patented 
catalyst and a modified fluidised bed reactor, producing hydrogen with no CO2 emissions. This is referred to as 
turquoise hydrogen. In addition, Clean Hydrogen also produces a second product, used for battery manufacturing, 
called conductive carbon. 
 
Clean Hydrogen uses methane as its current feedstock and in the future plans to consume natural gas. It does not 
burn the methane, it processes it, using its own patented catalyst and a bespoke designed fluidised bed reactor. 
The process it uses is called pyrolysis which is not new and has been used by the oil industry for many years. 
What is new is Clean Hydrogen’s success in the efficiency of its cracking the methane into turquoise hydrogen 
with non-CO2 emissions and the quality of the carbon black produced being majority conductive carbon with some 
carbon nano tubes.  
 
This process requires similar energy needs as Steam Methane Reforming (“SMR”) and in Clean Hydrogen’s view 
can be produced at a similar price at scale. Also, it requires no water as part of its process to produce hydrogen.  
 
Importantly, the Clean Hydrogen’s solution is being built with flexibility to work downstream at heavy transport 
fueling hubs currently in use in the USA, mid-stream at steel plants replacing coking coal and upstream where the 
natural gas is processed into hydrogen, a much higher energy source which can be piped for all uses including 
the production of electricity. As such the technology being developed by Clean Hydrogen’s solution requires very 
little change and impact to existing infrastructures and supply chains, unlike other solutions. Although Clean 
Hydrogen considers that electrolysis and other solutions will have their role in the future of hydrogen, they believe 
the majority of hydrogen will require the advancement of other technologies that can be more ubiquitous, cheaper 
to produce, use less electricity and operate within existing supply chains. 
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As of mid-2024 CHT has developed its engineering and catalyst capabilities to a stage where it has proven 
consistently in its pilot plant in Nashik, India to produce its 2 products; turquoise hydrogen and a carbon composite 
made from majority CNT (carbon nanotubes) and CNF (carbon nano-fibres), where its core process has not CO2 
emissions and its feedstock is the hydrocarbons from natural gas . The next stage is to build production facilities 
in the USA and India, both being highly industrial markets with demand for CHT’s products. 
 
As such since mid-2024 CHT has been designing its production facility for India initially which will produce at the 
end of its Stage 1 build will produce 820 tonnes of hydrogen and 2,462 tonnes of carbon composite. CHT plans to 
sell it products to the many industrial users in the State of Maharashtra India, home of its planned production site, 
and likely Louisiana, USA, with several site options identified. 
 
Before finalising production needs and CHT has been going through the ASME (required for operation in USA) 
and IS2825 (required for operation in India) review of its engineering designs where this process is almost 
complete. 
 
CHT is now looking to source the funding required to build its plants in the USA and India where within 3-4 months 
of minimal funding of US$2.5m it will start producing income, initially in India and then the USA, its primary market. 
 
Cortical Dynamics Ltd (“Cortical”), BPH 16.4% 
 
Investee Cortical Dynamics Limited is an Australian based medical device neurotechnology company that is 
developing BARM™, an industry leading EEG (electrical activity) brain function monitor. BARM™ is being 
developed to better detect the effect of anaesthetic agents on brain activity under a general operation, aiding 
anaesthetists in keeping patients optimally anaesthetised, and complemented by CORDYAN™ (Cortical Dynamics 
Analytics), a proprietary deep learning system/App focusing on anaesthesiology. 
 
The Australian manufactured and designed, electroencephalographically based (EEG-based), BARM™ system is 
configured to efficiently image and display complex information related to the clinically relevant state of the brain. 
When commercialized the BARM™ system will be offered on a stand-alone basis or integrated into leading brand 
operating room monitors as “plug and play” option.  
 
Cortical has been chosen for a grant as one of three innovative biomedical companies using the power of data 
and artificial intelligence (AI) to become internationally competitive as part of a new accelerator.  
 
Cortical has been selected for the Biomedical AI Sprints Accelerator (BASA) grant run by leading innovation 
centres, the Advanced Robotics for Manufacturing (ARM) Hub and MTPConnect. Cortical will harness data and 
AI to revolutionise their products range from perioperative management of anaesthetic agents. ARM Hub is 
Australia’s leading AI, robotics, and design-for-manufacture industry hub. MTPConnect is Australia’s life sciences 
innovation accelerator championing growth of the medical products sector. 
 
Technical completion of Cortical’s next-generation AI enhanced brain and pain monitoring BARM 2.0 is expected 
over the next months.  
 
BARM 2.0 is the only solution that unifies hypnotic depth and pain response monitoring, combining EEG with AI 
in one system, giving clinicians real-time control over anesthesia, and hospitals a smarter, more scalable way to 
achieve better patient outcomes both during and after surgery. 
 
Post technical completion BARM 2.0 clinical trials are scheduled in the USA and Netherland to be followed by 
submissions to regulatory authorities worldwide as soon as possible. 
 
Cortical Dynamics was invited to showcase BARM 2.0 at the Australia Regulatory Device Summit 2025, that took 
place  on the 17–18 July at ICC. In attendance were key stakeholders including the US FDA , Therapeutic Goods 
Administration (TGA) and international regulators from ANVISA (Brazil), HSA (Singapore), and PMDA (Japan). 
This was a unique chance for Cortical to connect directly with the regulatory community and major global players 
in medical technology. 
 
Cortical has been selected to exhibit BARM 2.0 at the Medtech on the Hill at Parliament House event in 
Canberra 27-28 August 22025 organised by Medical Technology Association of Australia (MTAA). In attendance 
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will be Ministers, MPs, Senators, and industry leaders for an evening networking event in Mural Hall, Parliament 
House. The Showcase brings together a dynamic cross-section of MTAA member companies across therapeutic 
areas, from Australian startups to global MedTech leaders, offering hands-on demonstrations through a curated 
patient journey from prevention to management, and the chance to connect directly with the people and 
companies driving healthcare innovation forward, as well as patients. 
 
MTAA is the peak association representing companies in the medical technology industry. MTAA aims to ensure 
the benefits of modern, innovative and reliable medical technology are delivered effectively to provide better 
health outcomes to the Australian community. 
 
Work continues on the development of CORDYAN™ which is Cortical Dynamic’s  new AI focussed predictive App 
initiative. Utilising proprietary state of the art AI and deep learning expertise Cortical Dynamics is developing game 
changing medical Apps that can be used in association with BARM 2.0 or standalone and /or be integrated into 
leading OEM healthcare systems and EMR (electronic medical records). 
 
CORDYAN™’s development has been facilitated by matched grants from MTPConnect, Australia’s premier 
MedTech governmental organisation and ARM-hub a federal government initiative to accelerate AI related 
technologies in areas of strategic importance. 
 
During the year Cortical issued 200,000 shares for cash at $0.25 per share for cash proceeds of $50,000, and 
556,667 shares were issued on the exercise of share options. 
 
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited, BPH 20% 
 
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited (“MDS”), launched in 2006 and spun off from BPH in 2010, is an associate 
of BPH. MDS has been working with the Molecular Cancer Research Group at the Harry Perkins Institute of 
Medical Research to validate HLS5 as a novel tumour suppressor gene, particularly for liver cancer. 
 
The Molecular Cancer Research Group has developed a pre-clinical model of liver cancer where the expression 
of HLS5 is ablated i.e. it mimics, in part, patients that have low HLS5 (TRIM35) and develop liver cancer. Research 
conducted at the Perkins Institute has shown that HLS5 has significant tumour suppressor properties. The Perkins 
findings are supported by the two independent peer reviewed scientific publications, identifying a role for HLS5 in 
cancer, demonstrating that the loss of HLS5 expression may be a critical event in the development and progression 
of liver cancer. 
 
The publications — a collaboration between Fudan University Shanghai Cancer Centre and other Chinese 
Institutes, including Shanghai Cancer Institute, Liver Cancer Institute, Second Military Medical University and Qi 
Dong Liver Cancer Institute —focused on identifying the role of HLS5 in liver cancer. The first article demonstrated 
that HLS5 binds a key enzyme involved in the production of energy for cancer cells (Pyruvate Kinase isoform M2 
(PKM2)). They showed that HLS5 binds PKM2 to form a complex which inhibits the activation of PKM2. The 
formation of this HLS5/PKM2 complex ultimately limits the cancer cell’s means of energy production and its ability 
to proliferate. In the second publication the expression levels of HLS5 and PKM2 were assessed for potential use  
as a prognostic marker for hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) - (liver cancer) .The study analysed liver samples of 
688 patients who had HCC. The study found that patients who were positive for PKM2 expression and negative 
for HLS5 expression had poorer overall survival and shorter time to recurrence. Taken together, the findings of 
both papers further support the research into HLS5 by MDS and the Harry Perkins Institute of Medical Research. 
 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Review of Operations 
BPH Energy Limited 

8 
 

Competent Person Statement 
 
The information in this report that relates to mineral resources contained within the PEP 11 Project in this financial 
report is based on information reviewed by Mr David Bennett, an independent consultant with a PhD in geophysics 
from Australia National University, and more than 40 years of experience in oil and gas exploration and discovery 
in Australia, New Zealand, Papua New Guinea and elsewhere. The information in this report that relates to 
Prospective Resource information in relation to the PEP11 is based on information compiled by the operator of 
these assets, Advent Energy Limited. This information was subsequently reviewed by Mr David Bennett, who has 
consented to the inclusion of such information in this report in the form and context in which it appears. The 
resources included in this report have been prepared using definitions and guidelines consistent with the 2007 
Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE) / World Petroleum Council (WPC) / American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists (AAPG) / Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE) / Petroleum Resources Management 
System (PRMS). The resources information included in this report are based on, and fairly represents, information 
and supporting documentation reviewed by Mr Bennett. Mr Bennett is qualified in accordance with the 
requirements of ASX Listing Rule 5.41 and consents to the inclusion of the information in this report of the matters 
based on this information in the form and context in which it appears. 
 
Cautionary Statement 
 
Prospective Resources are the term given to the estimated hydrocarbon volumes (petroleum) that may potentially 
be produced in the event that they are discovered by the drilling of an exploration well. Prospective Resources 
may potentially be recovered by the application of a future development project and may relate to undiscovered 
resource accumulations. These estimates have both an associated risk of discovery and an inherent risk of 
development. Further exploration and appraisal drilling will be required to determine the existence of a 
commercially recoverable quantity of petroleum (oil and/or gas). 
 
There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating reserves and resources, as well as in projecting future 
development capital expenditure, production costs and cash flows. Geoscientific resource assessment must be 
recognised as a subjective process of estimating subsurface accumulations that cannot be measured exactly. 
 
BPH is an investment company and relies on the resource and ore reserve statements compiled by the companies 
in which it invests. All Resource and Reserve Statements have been previously published by the companies 
concerned. Summary data has been used. Unless otherwise stated all resource and reserve reporting complies 
with the relevant standards. Resources quoted in this report equal 100% of the resource and do not represent 
BPH’s investees’ equity share unless stated. The Company confirms that it is not aware of any new information or 
data that materially affects the information included in the original market announcements, and that all material 
assumptions and technical parameters have not materially changed. The Company also confirms that the form 
and context in which the relevant Competent Person’s findings are presented have not been materially modified 
from the original market announcements.  
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The directors of BPH Energy Ltd (”BPH Energy” or “the Company”) present their report on the Company and its 
controlled entities (“consolidated entity” or “Group”) for the financial year ended 30 June 2025. 
 
Directors 
 
The names of directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 
 
David Breeze 
Anthony Huston  
Charles Maling  
 
Company Secretary 
 
Mr David Breeze was appointed Company Secretary on 23 November 2016. He has many years’ experience in 
the management of listed and unlisted entities.  
 
Principal Activities  
 
The principal activities of the consolidated entity during the financial year were investments in biotechnology and 
oil and gas exploration entities. 
 
Operating Results 
 
The consolidated entity has reported a net profit after tax for the year ended 30 June 2025 of $6,785,888 (2024: 
net profit of $4,555,368) and has a net cash outflow from operating activities of $736,930 (2024: outflow of 
$941,509).   
 
The net profit from ordinary activities after tax is after recognising (i) administration and promotion expenses of 
$559,915 (2024: $698,601); (ii) consulting and legal costs of $239,926 (2024: $231,714); (iii) share of associates’ 
profits of $672,466 (2024: losses of $257,246); (iv) share-based payments expense of $536,525 (2024: $454,620); 
and (v) fair value gain of $6,930,231 (2024: gain of $5,664,419). 
 
Dividends 
 
The directors recommend that no dividend be paid in respect of the current period and no dividends have been 
paid or declared since the commencement of the period. 
 
Review of Operations  
 
A Review of Operations is set out on pages 2 to 7 and forms part of this Directors’ Report. 
 
Environmental Issues 
 
The consolidated entity’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or territory.  
 
Financial Position  
 
The consolidated entity has a working capital surplus of $10,050,026 (2024: $9,336,231). The net assets of the 
consolidated entity increased by $9,185,509 to $38,485,887 over the year to 30 June 2025. Included in trade 
creditors and payables is current director fee accruals of $520,680 (2024: $765,811).  
 
Non-Audit Services 
 
No fees for non-audit services were paid/payable to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2025 
(2024: $Nil). 
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Capital  
 
On 15 August 2024 the Company announced that it had issued 57,932,781 new fully paid ordinary shares 
(“Placement Shares”) in the Company at an issue price of $0.018 per share. Placement participants received one 
free Attaching Option for every two Placement Shares subscribed for under the Placement, exercisable at $0.03 
each, expiring on 29 October 2025 (“Attaching Options”). A total of 28,966,387 Attaching Options were issued 
after rounding. 
 
Oakley Capital Partners Pty Limited (“Oakley Capital”) and 62 Capital Pty Ltd (“62 Capital”) acted as Joint Lead 
Manager for the Placement. They were paid a cash fee of 5.5% on funds raised under the Placement and received 
16,666,667 Broker Options (“Broker Options”) pro rata to their participation in the Placement exercisable at $0.03 
each expiring on 29 October 2025. 
 
The consideration for the Placement shares was $1,042,790 (before costs). The intended use of the funds will be 
for: 

• $0.743 million - funding for exploration and development of oil and gas investments 
• $0.15 million - for working capital including costs of the offer 
• $0.15 million - funding for Cortical Dynamics  

 
On 4 October 2024 a shareholders’ meeting approved a Placement of up to 576,795,250 listed options with an 
exercise price of $0.03 each and expiry on 29 October 2025 to the holders of the listed options which expired on 
30 September 2024. A total of 576,795,230 of these options were issued on 6 November 2024 at an issue price 
of $0.001 each. The cash consideration for the Placement was $566,131 (before costs but after director loan 
offsets). The intended use of the funds will be for working capital including costs of the offer. 
 
In addition: 
 

- 11,551,863 share options with an exercise price of $0.03 per option and expiry 30 September 2024 were 
exercised 

- 1,200,000 share options with an exercise price of $0.02 per option and expiry 30 November 2024 were 
exercised  

- 576,795,250 listed options and 5,000,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.03 each, and expiry 
30 September 2024, expired unexercised. 

- 5,000,000 Incentive Options were issued to Director David Breeze subsequent to approval at the 
Company’s November 2024 Annual General Meeting, with an exercise price of $0.03 per option and an 
expiry date of 30 October 2025. 

 
Subsequent Events  
 
There are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year other than outlined 
elsewhere in this financial report that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the 
consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial 
years. 
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Information on Directors 
 
D Breeze 
 
Managing Director, Executive Chairman, and Company Secretary – Age 71 
Shares held – 69,750,805  
Options held 14,121,678 
Performance Rights1 - 58,000,000  
 
David is a Corporate Finance Specialist with extensive experience in the stock broking industry and capital 
markets. He has been a corporate consultant to Daiwa Securities; and held executive and director positions in the 
stock broking industry. David has a Bachelor of Economics and a Masters of Business Administration, and is a 
Fellow of the Institute of Company Directors of Australia.  He has published in the Journal of Securities Institute of 
Australia and has also acted as an Independent Expert under the Corporations Act. He has worked on the 
structuring, capital raising and public listing of over 70 companies involving in excess of $250M. These capital 
raisings covered a diverse range of areas including oil and gas, gold, food, manufacturing and technology.  
 
In the last 3 years David held the following listed company directorships: MEC Resources Limited (April 2005 to 
present). David is also a director of unlisted companies Grandbridge Limited, Cortical Dynamics Limited, Molecular 
Discovery Systems Limited, Diagnostic Array Systems Limited, and Advent Energy Limited and its subsidiaries. 
 
C Maling 
 
Non-Executive Director – Age 71  
Shares held – 7,337,428  
Options held – Nil 
 
Charles Maling was formerly the Communications Officer for the Office of the Western Australian State 
Government Environmental Protection Authority (“EPA”) with a responsibility for advising the Chairman of the EPA 
on media issues. He has a Bachelor of Sociology and Anthropology with a Media minor. Charles worked with the 
Western Australian State Government Department of the Environment   for 14 years and further 8 years for the 
EPA. His administrative roles included environmental research (including a major study on Perth Metropolitan 
coastal waters and Western Australian estuaries) environmental regulation and enforcement and media 
management.  
 
In the past three years Charles has not held any listed company directorships. Charles is a director of unlisted 
Grandbridge Limited.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 David Breeze was issued 58,000,000 Performance Rights subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s November 
2023 Annual General Meeting. The Performance Rights were fair valued at based on the share price on the date of 
shareholder approval. The fair value is being expensed on a pro-rata basis over the 5 year term until the earlier of (i) approval 
by the Commonwealth New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension 
application (ii) 5 years from the date of award. The Performance Rights have not been issued at the date of this financial 
report. 
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A Huston  
 
Non-Executive Director – Age 70 
Shares held – 9,438,070  
Options held – 1,542,762 
 
Tony Huston has been involved for over 40 years in engineering and hydrocarbon industries for both on and off 
shore exploration/development. Early career experience commenced with Fitzroy Engineering Ltd, primarily 
working on development of onshore oil fields. During the 1990’s Tony managed JFP NZ International, a Texas 
based exploration company that included a Jack Up rig operating in NZ waters. In 1994 Tony oversaw the 
environmental consent process required to drill a near inshore well that was drilled from “land” into the offshore 
basin during 1995. In 1996 Tony formed his own E&P Company to focus re-entry of onshore wells, primarily 
targeting shallow pay that had been passed or ignored from previous operations. This was successful and the two 
plays opened up 20 years ago are still in operation. Recent focus (12 years) has been to utilise new technology 
for enhanced resource recovery and has been demonstrated in various fields, including US, Mexico, Oman, Italy 
and Turkmenistan.  
 
During the last 3 years Tony has held the following listed company directorships: MEC Resources Limited (from 
October 2020 to present). Tony is also a director of unlisted companies Advent Energy Limited and Clean 
Hydrogen Technologies Corp. 
 
Future Developments 
 
The Company will continue its investment in energy resources and to assist its investee companies to 
commercialise breakthrough biomedical research developed in universities, medical institutes and hospitals.  
 
Significant Changes in State Of Affairs 
 
During the period there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity other than 
those referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 
 
Indemnifying Officers or Auditors 
 
During or since the end of the financial year the Company has not given an indemnity or entered an agreement to 
indemnify, or paid or agreed to pay directors and officers insurance premiums. The Company has not indemnified 
the current or former auditors of the Company. 
 
Options 
 
At the date of this report, the unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are as follows: 
 

No person entitled to exercise the option had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share 
issue of any other body corporate.  
 
 
  

Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number Under Option 
August and October 2024 29 October 2025 $0.03 622,428,284 
November 2025 30 October 2025 $0.03 5,000,000 
November 2023 7 December 2028 $0.05 5,250,000 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 
 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel of BPH Energy Limited. 
The Remuneration Report details the remuneration arrangements for KMP who are defined as those persons 
having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the companies in 
the consolidated entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise) of companies 
in the consolidated entity. The information provided in the Remuneration Report has been audited as required by 
Section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
Key Management Personnel 
  
The Directors of the consolidated entity during or since the end of the financial year were as follows: 

  
D Breeze   -    Executive Chairman, Managing Director and Company Secretary 
A Huston  -   Non-Executive Director  
C Maling  -   Non-Executive Director  

 
All have held their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
Remuneration Policy 

The remuneration policy of BPH Energy Limited has been designed to align director and executive objectives with 
shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term 
incentives as determined by the board and/or shareholders. The remuneration report as contained in the June 
2024 financial report was adopted at the Company’s 2024 Annual General Meeting held on 28 November 2024. 
The board believes the remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the 
best executives and directors to run and manage the Company, as well as create goal congruence between 
directors, executives and shareholders.  

The board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for board members and senior 
executives of the Company is as follows: 
 

 The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior 
executives, was developed and approved by the board.  

 All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and experience), 
superannuation, fringe benefits and options. 

 The board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Company’s performance, executive 
performance and comparable information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar 
industries. 

The performance of executives is measured against criteria agreed with each executive and is based 
predominantly on the amount of their workloads and responsibilities for the Company. The board may, however, 
exercise its discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options, and can recommend changes to 
recommendations. Any changes must be justified by reference to measurable performance criteria. The policy is 
designed to attract the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term 
growth in shareholder wealth. Executives are also entitled to participate in the employee share and option 
arrangements. The Company did not engage remuneration consultants during the period. 

The executive directors and executives which receive salaries receive a superannuation guarantee contribution 
as required by the government and do not receive any other retirement benefits.  
 
Shares given to directors and executives are valued as the difference between the market price of those shares 
and the amount paid by the director or executive. Options are valued using an appropriate valuation methodology. 
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The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The maximum pool of non-executive director fees approved by shareholders is 
$250,000. Payments to non-executive directors are based on market practice, duties and accountability. 
Independent external advice is sought when required on payments to non-executive directors. The maximum 
aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting. Fees for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the Company. 
However, to align directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the 
Company and are able to participate in the Employee Incentive Securities Plan. The board does not have a policy 
in relation to the limiting of risk to directors and executives in relation to the shares and options provided. 
 
Employment Contracts of Directors and Senior Executives 
 
The employment conditions of the Managing Director, David Breeze, is formalised in a Product Development 
Agreement. The engagement is automatically extended for a period of 2 years at each anniversary date unless 
the Managing Director or the Company give notice of termination prior to the expiry of each term. The agreement 
stipulates the Managing Director may terminate the engagement with a six month notice period. The company 
may terminate the agreement without cause by providing six months written notice or making payment in lieu of 
notice, based on the individual’s annual salary component together with a redundancy payment of up to twelve 
months of the individual’s fixed salary component. Termination payments are generally not payable on resignation 
or dismissal for serious misconduct. In the instance of serious misconduct the company can terminate employment 
at any time. Any options not exercised before or on the date of termination will not lapse. 
 
Interest in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 
 
The following relevant interests in shares and options of the Company or a related body corporate were held by 
key management personnel. 
 
Shareholdings 

 Balance 
1.7.2024 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
exercised 

Balance 
30.6.2025 

D Breeze 59,750,8051 - 10,000,000 69,750,8051 

A Huston 9,438,070 - - 9,438,070 
C Maling 5,275,144 - 2,062,284 7,337,428 

 
Optionholdings 

 Balance 
1.7.2024  

Acquired Expired Options 
exercised 

Balance 
30.6.2025 

Total 
Exercisable 
and Vested  
30.6.2025  

Total 
Unexercisable 

30.6.2025 

D Breeze 24,273,510 14,121,678 (14,273,510) (10,000,000) 14,121,678 14,121,678 - 

A Huston 1,542,762 1,542,762 (1,542,762) - 1,542,762 1,542,762 - 
C Maling 2,062,284 - - (2,062,284) - - - 

 

1 These include securities held by Grandbridge Limited, a Company of which Mr Breeze is Managing Director 
 
 
David Breeze was issued 58,000,000 Performance Rights subsequent to shareholder approval under ASX Listing 
Rule 10.14 at the Company’s November 2023 Annual General Meeting. The Performance Rights were fair valued 
at based on the share price on the date of shareholder approval. The fair value is being expensed on a pro-rata 
basis over the 5 year term until the earlier of (i) approval by the Commonwealth New South Wales Offshore 
Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension application (ii) 5 years from the date of 
award. The Performance Rights have not been issued at the date of this financial report. 
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Key management personnel remuneration 
 
The remuneration for each key management personnel of the consolidated entity during the year was as follows: 
 

2025: Key Management Person Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits 

 Salary and fees  

($)  

Bonus 

($) 

Non-cash 
benefit ($) 

Other 

(S) 

Superannuation 

(S) 

D Breeze 148,000 - - - - 

C Maling 25,000 - - - - 

A Huston 35,000 - - - - 

Total 208,000 - - - - 

Key Management Person Share-based 
payment 

Share-based payment 

Performance Rights1 

Total 

 

Performance 
Related 

Compensation 

Relating to Securities  

 Other ($) $  $ % % 

D Breeze 54,5092,3 475,6001  678,109 - 78.2% 

C Maling 2,8072,4 -  27,807 - 10.1% 

A Huston 3,6092,5 -  38,609 - 9.3% 

Total 60,925 475,600  744,525 - 72.1% 
 

2024: Key Management Person Short-term Benefits Post-employment Benefits 

 Salary and fees  

($)  

Bonus 

($) 

Non-cash 
benefit ($) 

Other 

(S) 

Superannuation 

(S) 

D Breeze 148,000 - - - - 

C Maling 25,000 - - - - 

A Huston 35,000 - - - - 

Total 208,000 - - - - 

Key Management Person Long-term 
Benefits 

Share-based payment  

($) 

Total 

 

Performance 
Related 

Compensation 

Relating to Securities  

 Other ($) Performance Rights1  $ % % 

D Breeze - 277,5421  425,542 - 65.2% 

C Maling - -  25,000 - 0% 

A Huston - -  35,000 - 0% 

Total - 277,542  485,542 - 57.2% 
 
1 David Breeze was issued 58,000,000 Performance Rights subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s November 

2023 Annual General Meeting. The Performance Rights were fair valued at based on the share price on the date of 
shareholder approval. The fair value is being expensed on a pro-rata basis over the 5 year term until the earlier of (i) approval 
by the Commonwealth New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension 
application (ii) 5 years from the date of award. The Performance Rights have not been issued at the date of this financial 
report. 

2 For securities issued in settlement of debt, the accounting standards require an expense to be recognised with respect to the 
fair value of shares and options. The fair value granted is estimated using a Black and Scholes option pricing model taking 
into account the terms and conditions upon which the shares and options were issued.  

3 Includes $9,782 related to 5 million share options issued to Mr Breeze fair valued estimated using a Black and Scholes 
option pricing model, $23,391 fair value of loan settlement of option exercise proceeds, and $21,336 fair value of loan 
settlement of option subscription proceeds. 

4 Fair value of loan settlement of option exercise proceeds 
5 Fair value of loan settlement of option subscription proceeds 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Directors’ Report  
BPH Energy Limited 

16 
 

Share-based payments 
 
The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence for key management personnel at year 
end: 
 

Total number Grant Date Exercise price Fair value at 
grant date 

Expiry date 
    

5,000,000 November 2024 $0.03 $0.0020 30 October 2025 
10,664,440 August and October 2024 $0.03 $0.0023 29 October 2025 
58,000,0001 November 2023 Not applicable $0.0410 29 November 2028 

 
1Director David Breeze was issued 58,000,000 Performance Rights subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s November 2023 
Annual General Meeting. The Performance Rights were fair valued at based on the share price on the date of shareholder approval. The fair 
value is being expensed on a pro-rata basis over the 5 year term until the earlier of (i) approval by the Commonwealth New South Wales 
Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension application (ii) 5 years from the date of award. The 
Performance Rights have not been issued at the date of this financial report. 
 

There are no further service or performance criteria that need to be met in relation to options granted. No options 
attributable to key management personnel were exercised during the year. Options granted confer a right of one 
ordinary share for every option held. The fair value of options granted is estimated using a Black and Scholes 
option pricing model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The inputs 
to the valuation model used are set out in Note 25 to this financial report. 
 
Company performance, shareholder wealth and director and executive remuneration 
 
The following table shows the gross revenue and the net profit / (loss) for the last 5 years for the listed entity, as 
well as the share price at the end of the respective financial years.  
 

 2025 2024 2023 2022 2021 

Finance Income ($) 836,638 843,683 304,054 154,702 65,506 

Net profit / (loss)  ($) 6,785,888 4,555,368 852,332 (1,078,581) (1,612,424) 

Share price at year end (cents per share) 0.8 

 

1.9 

 

2.3 1.1 7.2 

Earnings / (loss) per share (cents per 
share) 

0.56 0.44 0.10 (0.16) (0.28) 

 
Proceedings on Behalf of Company  
 
No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for 
all or any part of those proceedings.  The Company was not a party to any such proceedings during the year. 
 
Meetings of Directors 
 
During the financial year there were no meetings of directors. The Board meets informally by telephone to discuss 
the business of the Company. Resolutions are passed by circulatory resolution.  
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Significant Business Risks 
 
The Group’s activities have inherent risk and the Board is unable to provide certainty of the expected results of 
these activities, or that any or all of these likely activities will be achieved. The Company considers key trends, 
issues and risks in the external operating environment when formulating strategy and plans. A summary of key 
external risks currently affecting the business and the Company’s response to them is outlined below: 
 
Illiquid Investments 
 
Advent, Cortical Dynamics Limited, Molecular Discovery Systems Limited, and Clean Hydrogen Technologies 
Corporation are unlisted entities, there is a risk that there will not be a ready market to sell these shares. 
 
Additional requirements for capital 
 
Additional funding may be required in the event future costs exceed the Company’s estimates and to effectively 
implement its business and operations plans in the future, to take advantage of opportunities for acquisitions, joint 
ventures or other business opportunities, and to meet any unanticipated liabilities or expenses which the Company 
may incur. 
 
Renewal of exploration permit 
 
The Company’s 35.8% associate Advent holds, through its wholly owned subsidiary Asset Energy Pty Ltd 
(“Asset”), 85% of Petroleum Exploration Permit PEP 11, an exploration permit prospective for natural gas located 
in the Offshore Sydney Basin. This investment comprises a significant portion of the Company’s potential asset 
base. If Asset Energy loses its right of tenure in respect of PEP 11 then book value of capitalised exploration and 
evaluation expenditure of $16.15 million will need to be written off to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income in Asset. 

On 6 August 2024 Asset, as operator for and on behalf of the PEP-11 joint venture partners, filed an Originating 
Application for Judicial Review in the Federal Court seeking the following: (i) a declaration that the Commonwealth-
New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (“Joint Authority”) has breached an implied duty by failing to 
make a decision under the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth) with respect to two 
pending applications relating to the PEP11 Permit, and; (ii) an order that the Joint Authority be compelled to 
determine the applications within 45 days. Asset alleges that the failure by the Joint Authority to make a decision 
with respect to the First Application and the Second Application constitutes a breach of its duty to consider the 
applications within a reasonable time. 

On 18 September 2024 the Company announced that the Hon Ed Husic MP, Minister for Industry and Science, 
had advised that he has carefully considered the PEP-11 Exploration Permit applications under the Offshore 
Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth), namely the applications accepted on 23 January 2020 
and 17 March 2021, formed a preliminary view that the applications should be refused, and gave Asset, via the 
National Offshore Petroleum Exploration Authority (“NOPTA”), a statement of preliminary views with attachments 
and invited Asset to provide a response within 30 days. The statement of preliminary views included 45 annexures 
totalling 1608 pages. Due to the volume of the data provided to Asset, time was extended to 15 November 2024 
to provide submissions, which Asset subsequently made.  

Included in the material provided by Minister Husic was a copy of the NOPTA recommendation to the Joint 
Authority which recommended that the Joint Authority approve the Second Application. In the NOPTA Annual 
Report of Activities 2020-21 it was noted that 54 applications for COVID19 related suspensions and extensions 
were approved in that period. The Company understands that the Second Application (for COVID-19 relief) made 
in respect of the PEP-11 Permit was the only application outstanding. 

On 17 January 2025 the PEP-11 Joint Venture was given notice by NOPTA that the Joint Authority has refused 
the Joint Venture Applications made on 23 January 2020 and 17 March 2021. The PEP-11 permit will continue in 
force for a period of 2 months from 17 January 2025. The Joint Venture has statutory legal rights to seek a review 
of the decision referred to in the notice under the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006.  
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On 12 February 2025 Advent applied to the Federal Court for an Originating Application for judicial review pursuant 
to section 5 of the Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 (Cth) and section 39B of the Judiciary Act 
1903 (Cth) to review this decision of the Commonwealth-New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority, 
constituted under section 56 of the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth). The 
Originating Application seeks:  

1. An order quashing or setting aside the Decision;  
2. A declaration that the Decision is void and of no effect; and  
3. An order remitting the First Application and Second Application to the Joint Authority for reconsideration 

according to law. 

On 17 March 2025 the Federal Court made orders by consent including the operation of the decision of the 
Commonwealth-New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority comprised of the first respondent and the 
second respondent made on 16 January 2025 is suspended with effect from 16 January 2025, until further order 
of the Federal Court. 

The parties have complied with all programming orders and the matter is now listed for hearing on 16 and 17 
September 2025. 

In the meantime, PEP 11 continues in force and the Joint Venture is in compliance with the contractual terms of 
PEP 11 with respect to such matters as reporting, payment of rents and the various provisions of the Offshore 
Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006. 
 
Research and development  
 
The Company’s investments include Cortical Dynamics Limited, Molecular Discovery Systems Limited and Clean 
Hydrogen Technologies Corporation. 
 
The Company can make no representation that any of its investees’ research into or development of the 
technologies will be successful, that the development milestones will be achieved, or that the technologies will be 
developed into products that are commercially exploitable. This may then affect the Company’s investments in 
these entities. 
 
Oil and gas industry risks  
 
The Company has a 35.8% interest in Advent Energy Ltd (Advent). Risks associated with this significant 
investment include but are not limited to risks associated with failure to discover an economic reserve or 
successfully produce from a reserve, fluctuations in oil and gas prices, no guarantee of permit renewals or granting 
of production licences, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s investment.  
 

(a) Oil and gas exploration: the business of oil and gas exploration, project development and production, by 
its nature, contains elements of significant risk with no guarantee of success. A failure to discover an 
economic reserve, or to successfully produce from such a reserve, will adversely affect Advent’s 
performance and have a resulting effect on the value of the Company’s investment in Advent Energy.  
 

(b) Oil and gas price volatility: The demand for, and price of, oil and natural gas is highly dependent on a 
variety of factors, including international supply and demand, the level of consumer product demand, 
weather conditions, the price and availability of alternative fuels, actions taken by governments and 
international cartels, and global economic and political developments. International oil and gas prices have 
fluctuated widely in recent years and may continue to fluctuate significantly in the future. Fluctuations in 
oil and gas prices and, in particular, a material decline in the price of oil or gas may have a material adverse 
effect on Advent’s business, financial condition and results of operations.  
 

(c) Exploration and production licences: Advent’s operations are dependent upon the grant of appropriate 
licences, concessions, leases, permits and regulatory consents, which may be withdrawn or made subject 
to limitations. There is no guarantee that, upon completion of any exploration, a production licence will be 
granted with respect to exploration territory. There can also be no assurance that any exploration permit 
will be renewed or if so, on what terms. These licences place a range of past, current and future obligations 
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on Advent. In some cases, there could be adverse consequences for breach of these obligations, ranging 
from penalties to, in extreme cases, suspension or termination of the relevant licence or related contract. 
These may then affect the Company’s investment in Advent.  
 

(d) Expansion targets and operational delays: There can be no assurance that Advent will be able to complete 
any development of its properties on time or to budget, or that the current personnel, systems, procedures 
and controls will be adequate to support Advent’s operations. Any failure of management to identify 
problems at an early stage could have an adverse impact on Advent’s financial performance.  
 

(e) Resources, reserves and production: no assurance can be given that any anticipated figures will be 
achieved or that the indicated level of recovery will be realised. Market fluctuations in the price of oil & gas 
may render oil & gas reserves and resources uneconomical. Moreover, short-term operating factors 
relating to oil & gas reserves and resources, such as the need for orderly development of an oil & gas 
reservoir may cause an oil & gas operation to be unprofitable in any particular accounting period.  
 

(f) Limited operating history: Advent may not have assets producing positive cash flow and its ultimate 
success may depend on its ability to generate cash flow from active oil & gas operations in the future and 
its ability to access equity markets for its development requirements. Advent has not made profits to date 
and there is no assurance that it will do so in the future. A portion of Advent’s activities will be directed to 
the search for and the development of new oil & gas deposits. Significant capital investment will be 
required to achieve commercial production from Advent’s existing projects and from successful exploration 
efforts. There is no assurance that Advent will be able to raise the required funds to continue these 
activities.  
 

(g) Additional financing: Advent is required to fund its share of approved exploration expenditure on certain 
of the properties on which it has exploration rights, failing which Advent’s exploration rights in the relevant 
property may be either reduced or forfeited. Advent may acquire exploration rights in other exploration 
properties which may require acquisition payments to be made and exploration expenditures to be 
incurred. The only sources of funding currently available to Advent are through the issue of additional 
equity capital, project finance or borrowing. There is no assurance that Advent will be successful in raising 
sufficient funds to commence drilling or production operations or to meet its obligations with respect to the 
exploration properties in which it has or may acquire exploration rights. The Directors currently believe 
that Advent’s working capital will not be sufficient to fund operations. Advent will therefore have to seek 
additional financing for operations at a later date.  
 

(h) Regulatory approvals: Advent’s operations and the exploration agreements which it has entered into 
require approvals, licences and permits from various regulatory authorities, governmental and otherwise 
(including project specific governmental decrees). Such approvals, licences and permits are subject to 
change in various circumstances and further project specific governmental decrees and/or legislative 
enactments may be required. There can be no guarantee that Advent will be able to obtain or maintain all 
necessary approvals, licences and permits that may be required and/or that all project specific 
governmental decrees and/or required legislative enactments will be forthcoming to explore for oil & gas 
and develop the properties on which it has exploration rights, commence construction or operation of 
production facilities or to maintain continued operations that economically justify the costs involved.  
 

(i) Environmental factors: Advent’s operations are subject to environmental regulation (including regular 
environmental impact assessments and the requirement to obtain and maintain certain permits) in all the 
jurisdictions in which it operates. Such regulation covers a wide variety of matters, including, without 
limitation, prevention of waste, pollution and protection of the environment, labour regulations and health 
and safety. Advent may also be subject under such regulations to clean-up costs and liability for toxic or 
hazardous substances which may exist on or under any of its properties or which may be produced as a 
result of its operations. Environmental legislation and permitting requirements are likely to evolve in a 
manner which will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and penalties for non-
compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects and a heightened degree of 
responsibility for companies and their directors and employees.  
 

(j) Competition: The oil & gas exploration and production business is competitive in all of its phases. Advent 
competes with numerous other companies and individuals, including competitors with greater financial, 
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technical and other resources than itself, in the search for and acquisition of exploration and development 
rights on attractive oil & gas properties. Advent’s ability to acquire exploration and development rights on 
properties in the future will depend not only on its ability to develop the properties on which it currently has 
exploration and development rights, but also on its ability to select and acquire exploration and 
development rights on suitable properties for exploration and development. There is no assurance that 
Advent will continue to be able to compete successfully with its competitors in acquiring exploration and 
development rights on such properties.  
 

(k) Currency risk: Currency fluctuations may affect the cash flow that Advent hopes to realise from its 
operations, as oil and gas is sold and traded on the world markets in United States dollars. Advent’s costs 
are incurred primarily in Australian dollars and United States dollars.  
 

(l) Uninsured risks: Advent, as a participant in exploration and mining programmes, may become subject to 
liability for hazards that cannot be insured against or against which it may elect not to be so insured 
because of high premium costs. Advent may incur a liability to third parties (in excess of any insurance 
cover) arising from pollution or other damage or injury.  
 

(m) Market perception: Market perception of small oil & gas exploration companies may change and this could 
impact on the value of the Company’s holdings and impact on Advent’s ability to raise further equity capital.  

 
Regulatory risk  
 
The introduction of new legislation or amendments to existing legislation by governments, developments in existing 
common law, or the respective interpretation of the legal requirements in any of the legal jurisdictions which govern 
the Company’s operations or contractual obligations, could impact adversely on the assets, operations and, 
ultimately, the Company’s financial performance and its Securities. In addition, there is a commercial risk that legal 
action may be taken against the Company in relation to commercial matters.  
 
Development and commercialisation of technologies  

Securing rights to technologies, and in particular patents, is an integral part of securing potential product value in 
the outcomes of biotechnology research and development. Competition in retaining and sustaining protection of 
technologies and the complex nature of technologies can lead to expensive and lengthy patents disputes for which 
there can be no guaranteed outcome.  
 
The granting of a patent does not guarantee that the rights of others are not infringed or that competitors will not 
develop competing technologies that circumvents such patents. The Company’s success depends, in part, on its 
ability to obtain patents, maintain trade secret protection and operate without infringing the proprietary rights of 
third parties. Because the patent position of biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and frequently 
involve complex legal and scientific evaluation, neither the breadth of claims allowed in biotechnology patents nor 
their enforceability can be predicted. There can be no assurance that any patents the Company or Universities 
may own or control or licence now and in the future will afford the Company commercially significant protection of 
the technologies, or that any of the projects that may arise from the technologies will have commercial applications. 
Although the Company is not aware of any third party interests in relation to the technologies rights of the 
technologies, and has taken steps to protect and confirm its interest in these rights, there is always a risk of third 
parties claiming involvement in technological and medical discoveries, and if any disputes arise, they could 
adversely affect the Company. Although the Company will implement all reasonable endeavours to protect its 
technologies, there can be no assurance that these measures have been or will be sufficient.  
 
Potential Acquisitions  

As part of its business strategy, the Company may make acquisitions of or significant investments in 
complementary companies, products or technologies. Any such future transactions would be accompanied by the 
risks commonly encountered in making acquisitions of companies, products and technologies.  
 
Climate Change Risks  
 
Transitioning to a lower-carbon economy may entail extensive policy, legal, technology and market changes to 
address mitigation and adaption requirements related to climate change. Depending on the nature, speed and 
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focus of these changes, transition risks may pose varying levels of financial and reputational risk to the Company. 
While the Company will endeavour to manage these risks and limit any consequential impacts, there can be no 
guarantee that the Company will not be impacted by these occurrences. The climate change risks particularly 
attributable to the Company include: 
  

(a) the emergence of new or expanded regulations associated with the transitioning to a lower carbon 
economy and market changes related to climate change mitigation. The Company may be impacted by 
changes to local or international compliance regulations related to climate change mitigation efforts, or by 
specific taxation or penalties for carbon emissions or environmental damage. These examples sit amongst 
an array of possible restraints on industry that may further impact the Company and its business viability. 
While the Company will endeavour to manage these risks and limit any consequential impacts, there can 
be no guarantee that the Company will not be impacted by these occurrences; and  
 

(b) climate change may cause certain physical and environmental risks that cannot be predicted by the 
Company, including events such as increased severity of weather patterns and incidence of extreme 
weather events and longer-term physical risks such as shifting climate patterns. All these risks associated 
with climate change may significantly change the industry in which the Company operates.  

 
Negative publicity may adversely affect the share price  
 
Any negative publicity or announcement relating to any of the Company's substantial Shareholders, key personnel 
or activities may adversely affect the stock performance of the Company, whether or not this is justifiable. 
Examples of such negative publicity or announcements may include involvement in legal or insolvency 
proceedings, failed attempts in takeovers, joint ventures or other business transactions. No such issues are 
currently known to affect the Company.  
 
Environment  

The Company’s existing operations in Australia are not regulated by any significant environmental regulation under 
the law of the Commonwealth or any State or Territory.  
 
Economic conditions and other global or national issues  

General economic conditions, introduction of tax reform, new legislation, movements in interest and inflation rates 
and currency exchange rates may have an adverse effect on the Company’s investment, development and 
production activities, as well as on its ability to fund those activities.  
 
Changes in government policy and legislation  

Any material adverse changes in relevant government policies or legislation of Australia may affect the viability 
and profitability of the Company, and consequent returns to investors. The activities of the Company are subject 
to various federal, state and local laws governing prospecting, development, production, taxes, labour standards 
and occupational health and safety, and other matters.  
 
Ukraine and Middle-East Conflicts 
 
The current conflicts between Ukraine and Russia (Ukraine Conflict) and in the Middle-East are impacting global 
economies and financial markets. The nature and extent of the effect these conflicts may have on the Company’s 
operations remains uncertain at this time. In the short to medium term, the Company’s Share price may be 
adversely affected by the economic uncertainty caused by the these conflicts and the wider effect these conflicts 
have on global economies and financial markets.  
 
The Directors are monitoring the potential secondary and tertiary macroeconomic impacts of these conflicts, 
including the fluctuations in commodity and energy prices and the potential risk of cyber activity impacting 
governments and businesses. Further, any governmental or industry measures taken in response to these 
conflicts, including limitations on travel and changes to import / export restrictions may adversely impact the 
Company’s operations and are likely to be beyond the control of the Company.  
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Reliance on key management and personnel  
 
The Company is dependent on its management, the loss of whose services could materially and adversely affect 
the Company and impede the achievements of its research and development objectives. Because of the 
specialised nature of the Company’s business, its ability to commercialise its products and maintain its research 
programme will depend in part upon its ability to attract and retain suitably qualified management, scientists and 
research people over time. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to attract or retain sufficiently 
qualified personnel on a timely basis, retain its key scientific and management personnel, or maintain its 
relationship with key scientific organisations.  
 
Market conditions  
 
Share market conditions may affect the value of the Company’s quoted securities regardless of the Company’s 
operating performance. Share market conditions are affected by many factors such as: (a) general economic 
outlook in both Australia and Internationally; (b) introduction of tax reform or other new legislation, regulation, or 
policy; (c) changes in exchange rates, interest rates and inflation rates; (d) changes in investor sentiment toward 
particular market sectors; (e) the demand for, and supply of, capital; and (f) the global security situation and the 
possibility of terrorist disturbances or other hostilities.  
 
Neither the Company nor the Directors warrant the future performance of the Company or any return on an 
investment in the Company.  
 
Securities listed on the stock market, and in particular securities of exploration companies experience extreme 
price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. 
These factors may materially affect the market price of the shares regardless of the Company’s performance.  
 
Litigation  
 
The Company is exposed to possible litigation risks including, but not limited to, intellectual property ownership 
disputes, contractual claims, environmental claims, occupational health and safety claims and employee claims. 
Further, the Company may be involved in disputes with other parties in the future which may result in litigation. 
Any such claim or dispute if proven, may impact adversely on the Company’s operations, financial performance 
and financial position.  
 
The Company confirms that no person has applied for leave of the Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the 
Company or intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party.  
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2025 has been received and can be 
found on page 23.  
 
The directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to S298(2) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  
 

 
 
David Breeze  
Dated this 27th August 2025 
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 
As lead auditor for the audit of the consolidated financial report of BPH Energy Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2025, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 
a) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; 

and 
 
b) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Perth, Western Australia 
27 August 2025 

D B Healy 
Partner 
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The Board of Directors of BPH Energy Limited is responsible for the corporate governance of the economic entity. 
The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the Company on behalf of the shareholders by whom 
they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
To ensure that the Board is well equipped to discharge its responsibilities, it has established guidelines and 
accountability as the basis for the administration of corporate governance.   
 
A copy of the Company’s Corporate Governance Statement can be found on the Company’s website at 
www.bphenergy.com.au 
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                 Consolidated 

    Note  2025 
$ 

 2024 
$ 

       
Finance income    2 836,638 843,683 

       

Fair value gain    4 6,930,231 5,664,419 

Share of associates’ profits / (losses)    11 672,466 (257,246) 

Impairment reversal     3 21,959 20,493 

Interest expense     - (54) 

Administration and promotion expenses     (559,915) (698,601) 

Expected credit losses      (110,400) (102,352) 

Consulting and legal      (239,926) (231,714) 

Directors’ fees     (100,000) (100,000) 

Service expenses     (128,640) (128,640) 

Share-based payments    24 (536,525) (454,620) 

Profit before income tax      6,785,888 4,555,368 

Income tax expense    12 - - 

Profit before income tax      6,785,888 4,555,368 

Other comprehensive income:        

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss     

Other comprehensive income (net of tax)    - - 

Total comprehensive income for the period     6,785,888 4,555,368 

Profit attributable to members of the parent entity    6,786,849 4,556,970 

(Loss) attributable to non-controlling interests   (961) (1,602) 

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company  6,786,849 4,556,970 

Total comprehensive (loss) attributable to non-controlling interests    (961) (1,602) 

 
Earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 

  
 

5 

 
 

0.56 

 
 

0.44 

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share)  5 0.54 0.43 
 

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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           Consolidated 

    
Note 

2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

 

Current Assets        
Cash and cash equivalents    8 4,066,281 6,423,045  

Trade and other receivables    9 74,944 83,038  

Financial assets    10 6,566,570 3,783,801  

Prepayments     39,450 31,166  

Total Current Assets     10,747,245 10,321,050  
        
Non-Current Assets        

Financial assets    10 24,209,983 16,432,694  

Investments in associates    11 4,225,878 3,531,453  

Total Non-Current Assets     28,435,861 19,964,147  
 
Total Assets 

     
39,183,106 

 
30,285,197 

 

        
Current Liabilities        

Trade and other payables    13 612,396 899,996  

Financial liabilities    14 84,823 84,823  

Total Current Liabilities      697,219 984,819  

        

Net Assets     38,485,887 29,300,378  

 
Equity 

       

Issued capital    15 67,563,026 66,360,477  

Reserves    16 4,379,699 3,182,627  

Accumulated losses     (33,292,125) (40,078,974)  

Equity attributable to owners of the parent     38,650,600 29,464,130  

Non-controlling interest     (164,713) (163,752)  

Total Equity     38,485,887 29,300,378  
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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Consolidated   

Ordinary share 
capital 

$ 

 
Accumulated 

losses 
$ 

Option 
premium 

reserve 
$ 

        Share 
based payment 

reserve 
$ 

Total attributable 
to owners of the 

parent entity 
$ 

 
Non-controlling 

Interest 
$ 

 
Total 

 
$ 

Balance at 30 June 2023   
61,883,062 

 
(44,635,944) 

 
438,799 

 
1,888,272 

 
19,574,189 

 
(162,150) 

 
19,412,039 

Profit  / (loss) for the period  - 4,556,970 - - 4,556,970 (1,602) 4,555,368 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the 
year  

 

- 

 

4,556,970 

 

- 

 

- 

 

4,556,970 

 

(1,602) 

 

4,555,368 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners  

       

Securities issued  5,276,898 - 20 - 5,276,918 - 5,276,918 

Share issue costs - cash  (398,567) - - - (398,567) - (398,567) 

Share based payments  (400,916) - - 855,536 454,620 - 454,620 

Balance at 30 June 2024   
66,360,477 

 
(40,078,974) 

 
438,819 

 
2,743,808 

 
29,464,130 

 
(163,752) 

 
29,300,378 

Profit for the period  - 6,786,849 - - 6,786,849 (961) 6,785,888 

Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the 
year  

 

- 

 

6,786,849 

 

- 

 

- 

 

6,786,849 

 

(961) 

 

6,785,888 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners  

       

Securities issued for cash  1,063,477 - 566,131 - 1,629,608 - 1,629,608 
Securities issued in extinguishment of debt  349,869 - 10,665 - 360,534 - 360,534 
Loss on securities issued in extinguishment of 
debt – share based payments  26,198 - 24,945 - 51,143 - 51,143 
Share issue costs - cash  (127,046) - - - (127,046) - (127,046) 
Share issue costs – share based payments  (109,949) - - - (109,949) - (109,949) 
Share based payments  - - - 595,331 595,331 - 595,331 

Balance at 30 June 2025   
67,563,026 

 
(33,292,125) 

 
1,040,560 

 
3,339,139 

 
38,650,600 

 
(164,713) 

 
38,485,887 

 

The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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             Consolidated 
 

    
Note 2025 

$ 
2024 

$ 

       
Cash flows from operating activities       

Payments to suppliers and employees     (963,407) (1,043,111) 

Interest received     226,477 101,656 

Interest paid     - (54) 

Net cash used in operating activities    18(a) (736,930) (941,509) 
       
Cash flows from investing activities       

Payment for unlisted investments     (427,206) (114,113) 

Loans repaid     179,914 - 

Loans advanced     (2,875,302) (2,938,426) 

 Net cash used in investing activities    (3,122,594) (3,052,539) 
       
Cash flows from financing activities       

Repayment of borrowings    18(c) - (3,442) 

Proceeds from issue of securities (net of share issue costs)     1,502,760 4,806,351 

Net cash provided by financing activities     1,502,760 4,802,909 

       

Net (decrease) / increase in cash held     (2,356,764) 808,861 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year     6,423,045 5,614,184 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year    18(b) 4,066,281 6,423,045 
 

 
The accompanying notes form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these financial statements.
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies 
 
Corporate Information  
 
The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and the notes to the financial statements of 
BPH Energy Limited and its controlled entities (‘consolidated entity’ or ‘Group’), and the Consolidated Entity 
Disclosure Statement.  
 
BPH Energy Limited is a Company incorporated and domiciled in Australia and listed on the Australian 
Securities Exchange. The financial report was authorised for issue on 27th August 2025 by the board of 
directors. 
 
Basis of Preparation   
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(“AASB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. BPH Energy Ltd is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the 
financial statements. 
 
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in a 
financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions to which 
they apply. Material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this financial report are presented below. 
They have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated. The financial report has been prepared on an 
accruals basis and is based on historical costs, modified, where stated below. 
 
Financial Position  
 
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes continuity of normal business 
activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business.  
 
Compliance with IFRS  
 
The consolidated financial statements of BPH Energy Limited comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Accounting Policies 
 
(a) Principles of Consolidation 
 

(i) Subsidiaries 
 

 Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 
 A list of controlled entities is contained in Note 17 to the financial statements. All controlled entities have a 

June financial year-end. 
 
 As at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities have been incorporated into the 

consolidated financial statements as well as their results for the year then ended.  
 
 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to 
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for 
business combinations by the Group. 

 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

 
Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement 
of financial position respectively. 

 
(ii) Changes in ownership interests 

 
 Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 

equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the 
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 
 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference 

between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly 
to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 
disposed of.  
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(b) Income Tax 
 
The charge for current income tax expense is based on the profit for the year adjusted for any non-assessable 
or disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are substantially enacted by 
the statement of financial position date. 
 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the statement of financial position liability method in respect of temporary 
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements. No deferred income tax will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, 
excluding a business combination, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 
liability is settled. Deferred tax is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
except where it relates to items that may be recognised directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is 
adjusted directly against equity. 
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the Company has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
The amount of benefits brought to account or which may be realised in the future is based on the assumption 
that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the Company will 
derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the conditions 
of deductibility imposed by the law. 
 
Tax incentives 
 
The Company may be entitled to claim special tax deductions in relation to qualifying expenditure. As the 
Company is not in a position to recognise current income tax payable or current tax expense, a refundable tax 
offset will be received in cash and recognised as rebate revenue in the period the underlying expenses have 
been incurred. 

 
(c) Financial Instruments 
 
Recognition and derecognition 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards are transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled 
or expires. 
 
Classification and initial measurement of financial assets  
 
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured 
at the transaction price in accordance with AASB 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value 
adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable). For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the following 
categories:  
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(c) Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
• amortised cost  
• fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)  
• equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  
• debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).  
 
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables 
which is presented within other expenses.  

The classification is determined by both: 

- the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset, and 

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.  

Subsequent measurement of financial assets  

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost  

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not 
designated as FVTPL):  

• they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets to collect its 
contractual cash flows  

• the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group’s cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.  

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)  

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect 
and sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model 
financial assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are 
accounted for at FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those 
designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply. The 
category also contains an equity investment. The Group accounts for the investment at FVTPL and did not 
make the irrevocable election to account for the investment in unlisted and listed equity securities at fair 
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The fair value was determined in line with the 
requirements of AASB 9, which does not allow for measurement at cost. Assets in this category are 
measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets 
in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a valuation technique 
where no active market exists.  
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(c) Financial Instruments (continued) 

Impairment of financial assets  

AASB 9’s impairment requirements use more forward-looking information to recognise expected credit 
losses – the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. Instruments within the scope of the requirements included 
loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI, trade receivables, 
contract assets recognised and measured under AASB 15 and loan commitments and some financial 
guarantee contracts (for the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Group 
considers a broad range of information when assessing credit risk and measuring expected credit losses, 
including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected 
collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument. 

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:  

• financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition or that 
have low credit risk (‘Level 1’) and  

• financial instruments that have deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition and whose 
credit risk is not low (‘Level 2’).  

• ‘Level 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.  

‘12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the first category while ‘lifetime expected credit losses’ 
are recognised for the second category. Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a 
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument.  

Trade and other receivables  

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records 
the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash 
flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the financial instrument. In 
calculating, the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 
calculate the expected credit losses using a provision matrix. The Group assess impairment of trade 
receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics they have been grouped 
based on the days past due.  

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities  

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables. Financial liabilities are 
initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group 
designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial liabilities are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
 (d) Revenue and Other Income 
 
Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably.  Interest revenue is accrued on a timely basis, by reference to 
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable. 
 
Dividend revenue is recognised when the right to receive a dividend has been established.  
 
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised over time as the service is rendered.  
 
All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (“GST”). 
 
(e) Trade and Other Payables  
 
Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not 
billed to the consolidated entity. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 90 days.  Trade and 
other payables are recognised at amortised cost. 
 
(f) Earnings / (Loss) per Share 
 
Basic earnings / (loss) per share (“EPS”) is calculated as net profit / loss attributable to members, adjusted to 
exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference share dividends, divided by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. Diluted earnings / (loss) per 
share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings / (loss) per share to take into account 
the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding 
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
 
(g) Share-Based Payments 
 
The fair value of options granted under the Company’s Employee Incentive Securities Plan is recognised as 
an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant 
date and recognised over the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the 
options and the fair value of shares and options issued to consultants is measured at the fair value of services 
received.  
 
The fair value at grant date is determined using an appropriate option pricing model that takes into account 
the exercise price, the term of the option, the vesting and performance criteria, the impact of dilution, the share 
price at grant date and expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and risk free 
interest rate for the term of the option.  

 
The fair value of the options granted excludes the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, 
profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the 
number of options that are expected to vest. At each statement of financial position date, the entity revises its 
estimate of the number of options that are expected to vest. The employee benefit expense recognised each 
period takes into account the most recent estimate. Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share-
based payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to share capital.  
 
(h) Segment Reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision maker, the directors (see Note 23). 
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(i) Investments in Associates 
 
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, 
generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for in the parent entity financial statements using the cost method and in the 
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at 
cost. The equity method of accounting recognises the Group’s share of post-acquisition reserves of its 
associates. 

 
The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the profit or loss, and 
its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in other comprehensive income. The 
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Dividends receivable from associates are recognised in the parent entity’s statement of profit or loss, while in 
the consolidated financial statements they reduce the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s 
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured 
long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate. 
 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Where an investment is 
classified as a financial asset in accordance with AASB 9, at the date significant influence is achieved, the fair 
value of the investment needs to be assessed. Any fair value gains are recognised in accordance with the 
treatment the classification the financial asset as required by AASB 9. 
 
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as 
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after 
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an 
associate or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an 
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group 
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial 
recognition in accordance with AASB 9. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint 
venture at the date the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any 
proceeds from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is included in the determination of 
the gains or loss on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts 
previously recognised other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or joint venture on the same 
basis as would be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint 
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group 
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity 
method is discontinued. 
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(j) Application of New and Revised Accounting Standards   
 
Standards and Interpretations applicable to 30 June 2025 
 
The Group has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period.  The 
adoption of these standards has not had a material impact on Group. 
  
AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current / AASB 2022-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants 
 
The Standard amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements requirements for classifying liabilities 
as current or non-current.  
 
The amendments clarify: 
 
•           What is meant by a right to defer settlement 
•           That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period 
•           That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right 
•           That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the 

terms of a liability not impact its classification. 
  
These amendments were further amended by AASB 2022-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Non-current Liabilities with Covenants which clarifies that only covenants with which an entity must comply 
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of a liability (i.e., as current or non-current). 
  
Covenants with which an entity must comply after the reporting date do not affect a liability’s classification at 
reporting date. 
  
Additional disclosures are required to help users understand the risk that those liabilities could become 
repayable within 12 months after the reporting date where such liabilities are subject to covenants tested after 
reporting date. 
  
The amendments introduced by both AASB 2020-1 and AASB 2022-6 are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Earlier application is permitted if the amendments under both 
amending standards are adopted.  
  
AASB 2022-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 
This standard amends AASB 16 Leases by introducing new accounting requirements that clarify how a seller-
lessee subsequently measures sale and leaseback transactions that satisfy the requirements in AASB 15 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers to be accounted for as a sale. In summary: 
 

- on initial recognition, the seller-lessee includes variable lease payments when it measures a lease 
liability arising from a sale-and-leaseback transaction. 

- after initial recognition, the seller-lessee applies the general requirements for subsequent 
accounting of the lease liability such that it recognises no gain or loss relating to the right of use it 
retains. 

 
This standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. A seller-lessee will need to 
apply the amendments retrospectively to sale-and leaseback transactions entered into or after the date of 
initial application of AASB 16. Early adoption is permitted. 
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(j) Application of New and Revised Accounting Standards (continued)  
 
AASB 2023-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Supplier Finance Arrangements 
This amending standard introduces additional disclosure requirements for entities that enter into supplier 
finance arrangements. It also adds two new disclosure objectives – one to AASB 107 Statement of Cash 
Flows and another to AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – for an entity to provide information about 
its supplier finance arrangements that would enable users (investors) to assess the effects of these 
arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows, and the entity’s exposure to liquidity risk. The 
amendments require an entity to disclose the following in relation to supplier finance arrangements: 
 
•           the terms and conditions of the arrangements; 
•           the carrying amount of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements; 
•           the carrying amounts of those liabilities for which the suppliers have already received payment from 

the finance providers; 
•           the range of payment due dates; and 
•           the effect of non-cash changes. 
 
Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted 
  
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not 
yet mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 
2025. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are set out below. 
 
AASB 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 
 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 and early 
adoption is permitted. The standard replaces IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements', with many of the 
original disclosure requirements retained and there will be no impact on the recognition and measurement of 
items in the financial statements.  
 
The standard will however affect presentation and disclosure in the financial statements, including introducing 
five categories in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income: operating, investing, 
financing, income taxes and discontinued operations. The standard introduces two mandatory sub-totals in 
the statement: 'Operating profit' and 'Profit before financing and income taxes'. There are also new disclosure 
requirements for 'management-defined performance measures', such as earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation ('EBITDA') or 'adjusted profit'. The standard provides enhanced guidance on 
grouping of information (aggregation and disaggregation), including whether to present this information in the 
primary financial statements or in the notes. The Group will adopt this standard from 1 July 2027 and it is 
expected that there will be a significant change to the layout of the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. 
 
(k) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 

 
The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group. 

 
Key judgements — Expected credit loss on receivables  
 
Included in the accounts of the Group are loan receivables of $Nil (2024: $ Nil) net of expected credit loss 
provisions of $1,840,031 (2024: $1,729,631). The Company recognised an expected credit loss of $110,400 
in the reporting period (2024: $102,352).  
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1. Statement of Material Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
(k) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments (continued) 

 
Key judgements — Investment in Advent Energy Ltd (“Advent”) 
 
The investment in Advent is equity accounted despite having a common Managing Director, refer Note 11.  
 
Key estimates - Investment in Molecular Discovery Systems  
 
The investment in Molecular Discovery Systems Limited is equity accounted, refer to Note 11. During the 
period the Company recognised its share of the loss of the associate of $21,959 (2024: $20,493). The 
Company also recognised an impairment reversal of $21,959 (2024: $20,493) such that the investment in 
Molecular Discovery Systems is fully impaired at period end. 
 
Key estimates - Investment in Cortical Dynamics Limited (“Cortical”) 
 
The investment in Cortical is carried at fair value level 2 on the fair value hierarchy, refer to Note 10. The 
Company’s investment in Cortical is valued at 25 cents per share (30 June 2024: 20 cents per share) based 
on the price of the most recent third party share issue by Cortical. This has resulted in a fair value gain of 
$1,622,155. 
 
Key estimates - Investment in Clean Hydrogen Technologies Corp. (“Clean Hydrogen Technologies”) 
 
The investment in Clean Hydrogen is classified as a Level 3 financial asset under the fair value hierarchy 
in accordance with AASB 13.93(b). The fair value at 30 June 2025 has been determined using the most 
recent observable transaction price of US$3,000 per share, which reflects the exercise price of options 
exercised by the Company during the year. As Clean Hydrogen is an unlisted entity with no active market, 
the valuation incorporates significant unobservable inputs. These include: 
 

• Recent transaction price: US$3,000 per share (used as a proxy for fair value). 
• Development stage: Clean Hydrogen is in the pilot phase with proven technology but no 

commercial revenue. 
• Market comparables: Not directly applicable due to proprietary technology and early-stage 

operations. 
• Discount rate: Not applied due to reliance on transaction price. 

 
A sensitivity analysis has not been performed due to the absence of alternative observable inputs. 
However, management acknowledges that the valuation is subject to significant estimation uncertainty and 
may vary materially based on future funding rounds, commercialisation milestones, or changes in market 
conditions. 
 
No independent valuation was obtained. The fair value gain of $5,292,520 (2024: $5,664,419) recognised 
during the year reflects the difference between the fair value at balance date and the settlement price under 
the Loan Conversion Agreement dated 23 October 2023. 
 
Clean Hydrogen is progressing a capital raising in which we understand the price will be US$3,000 per 
share to raise up to US$7.5m. The raising is expected to be completed in the second half of 2025. 
 
Key estimates – carrying value of investment in MEC Resources Limited (MEC)   
 
The investment in MEC is recorded at a carrying value of $137,778 (refer Note 10), being the last traded price 
of its shares and share options on ASX at 30 June 2025.  
 
 
  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2025 
BPH Energy Ltd and its controlled entities 

39 
 

    
          Consolidated 

     2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

2. Finance Income 
 

       
Interest income:   other entities      560,634 362,623 

 Interest income :  cash accounts     219,004 141,108 
 Loan arrangement fee     57,000 339,952 
     836,638 843,683 

 
3. Expenses Included in Profit for the Year 

 
Impairment reversal  

 
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited    21,959 20,493 
    21,959 20,493 

 
4. Fair Value Gain 

 
 

Fair value gain on investments at fair value 
through profit or loss:  
Cortical Dynamics Limited (unlisted)   

 

1,622,155 - 
Clean Hydrogen Technology Corporation (unlisted)    5,292,520 5,664,419 
MEC Resources Limited (listed)    15,556 - 
    6,930,231 5,664,419 

 
5.  Earnings per Share 

    
 Profit before income tax 6,785,888 4,555,368 
 Profit used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share  6,785,888 4,555,368 

  
Basic earnings per share (cents per share): 

  

 From continuing operations 0.56 0.44 
 Total basic earnings per share  0.56 0.44 

  
Diluted earnings per share1 (cents per share): 

  

 From continuing operations 0.54 0.43 
 Total diluted earnings per share  0.54 0.43 

  
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year  
used in calculating basic earnings per share  

Number 
 

1,207,533,421 

Number 
 

1,034,762,327 

 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted  
earnings per share  

Number 
 

1,265,533,421 

Number 
 

1,068,595,660 
 

1 David Breeze was issued 58,000,000 Performance Rights subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s 
November 2023 Annual General Meeting. With a maximum 5 year term until the earlier of (i) approval by the 
Commonwealth New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension 
application (ii) 5 years from the date of award. The Performance Rights have not been issued at the date of this financial 
report, but it is considered appropriate to include them in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. 
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6. Key Management Personnel Compensation 
 

Names and positions held of key management personnel in office at any time during the financial year 
are: 

 
D Breeze   -    Executive Chairman and Managing Director 
C Maling -   Non Executive Director  
A Huston -   Non Executive Director  
 

                Consolidated 

 
  

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Short term employee benefits    100,000 100,000 
Consulting fees     108,000 108,000 
Share-based payments    536,525 277,542 
    744,525 485,542 

 
Included in trade and other payables are current director and consulting fee accruals of $520,680 (30 
June 2024: $776,811).  
 

Director  Amount owing 
30 June 2025 $ 

David Breeze 448,322 
Charles Maling 44,352 
Tony Huston 28,006 
Balance owing at 30 June 2025 520,680 

 
Key management personnel remuneration has been included in the Remuneration Report section of 
the Directors’ Report. 

 
               Consolidated 
 
 

   2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

7. Auditor’s Remuneration 
 

Remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for:     
 - audit or review of the financial reports -   

HLB Mann Judd  
    

59,658 
 

52,287 
 
8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

Cash at Bank and in hand    4,066,281 6,423,045 
    4,066,281 6,423,045 
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            Consolidated 

    2025 $ 2024 $ 
 
9. Trade and other Receivables 
 

Current       
Interest income receivable     37,271 39,451 
Other receivables - unrelated     11,581 43,587 
Trade receivables - related     26,092 - 
     74,944 83,038 

 
10. Financial Assets 
 

Current      
      
Secured loans to other entities (c)    500,000 662,793 
Unsecured loans to other entities (b) (refer Note 11 (i))    4,659,967 3,055,227 
Unsecured loans to other entities (c)    1,268,825 43,559 
Investments in listed entities: (Level 1)    137,778 22,222 
    6,566,570 3,783,801 
Non - current       
Unsecured loans to other entities (b): (refer Note 11 (i))    1,837,716 2,489,808 
Investments in unlisted entities - (Level 2)    8,110,761 6,488,606 
Investments in unlisted entities - (Level 3)    14,261,506 7,454,280 
    24,209,983 16,432,694 

Loan receivables are stated net of the following provisions:      
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited (MDS) (a)      
Gross receivable    1,840,031 1,729,631 
Less provision for impairment    (1,840,031) (1,729,631) 
    - - 

  
(a) The Company has an unsecured loan with Molecular Discovery Systems (“MDS”) for $747,700 (2024: 

$726,700) as well as a convertible loan agreement with MDS at an interest rate of 8.83% per annum. 
The convertible loan is for a maximum capital amount of $500,000. Subject to MDS being admitted to 
the Official List of ASX (“Official List”), BPH Energy has a right of conversion to satisfy the debt on or 
before the termination date, being 26 January 2026. As at reporting date this loan had been drawn 
down by an amount of $1,092,331, including capitalised interest (2024: $1,002,931). Interest charged 
on the loan for the period was $89,400 (2024: $82,352) which has been recognised as an expected 
credit loss for the year in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 

(b) This unsecured loan to Advent Energy Limited accrues interest at 5.1% per annum for the first 24 
months from drawdown, and 9.6% thereafter. Loan repayments are due 24 months from drawdown. 

 
(c) This loan to Cortical Dynamics Limited comprises $1,768,825 accruing interest at 8% per annum 

($500,000 secured against a Research and Development tax incentive refund), (2024: $174,622 at 7% 
per annum and $531,730 at 8% per annum). 
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11. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method 
 
Investments in associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method 
of accounting.  

 
Name of Entity Country of 

Incorporation 
Ownership Interest 

% 
Principal Activity 

            2025  2024 
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited  Australia    20%  20% Biomedical 
Research 
 
Advent Energy Limited    Australia    35.8% 35.8% Oil and Gas 
Exploration 
 

             Consolidated 

    2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

Shares in Associates      
Advent Energy Limited (i)    4,225,878 3,531,453 
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited (ii)    324,655 346,614 
Molecular Discovery Systems Limited:  
Impairment provision (ii) 

    
(324,655) 

 
(346,614) 

    4,225,878 3,531,453 
   

 Consolidated 
          Advent     MDS 
 30 June  

2025 ($) 
30 June  
2024 ($) 

30 June  
2025 ($) 

30 June  
2024 ($) 

Revenue 30,000 15,046 - - 
Profit / (loss) for the period 1,939,409 (661,213) (109,796) (102,466) 
Other comprehensive income for 
the period 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Total comprehensive income / 
(loss) for the period 

 
1,939,409 

 
(661,213) 

 
(109,796) 

 
(102,466) 

   
 30 June  

2025 ($) 
30 June  
2024 ($) 

30 June  
2025 ($) 

30 June  
2024 ($) 

Current assets 1,851,588 2,783,806 494 182 
Non-current assets 22,416,856 17,809,506 - - 
Current liabilities (4,911,009) (3,205,543) (2,101,845) (979,343) 
Non-current liabilities (7,584,700) (7,657,304) - (1,012,394) 
Net assets 11,772,735 9,730,465 (2,101,351) (1,991,555) 
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11. Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method (continued) 
 
                         Consolidated 

 Advent MDS 
 30 June  

2025 ($) 
30 June  
2024 ($) 

30 June  
2025 ($) 

30 June  
2024 ($) 

Share of the group’s ownership 
interest in associate 

 
4,225,878 

 
3,531,453 

 
(420,270) 

 
(398,311) 

Other adjustments - - (420,270) (398,311) 
Carrying value of the group’s 
interest in associate 

 
4,225,878 

 
3,531,453 

 
- 

 
- 

 
Opening balance 3,531,453 3,768,206 - - 
Impairment reversal  - - 21,959 20,493 
Share of associate’s profit / (loss ) 694,425 (236,753) (21,959) (20,493) 
Closing balance 4,225,878 3,531,453 - - 
 
(i) Advent Energy Limited – PEP-11 

On 17 January 2025 the PEP-11 Joint Venture was given notice by NOPTA that the Joint Authority 
has refused the Joint Venture Applications made on 23 January 2020 and 17 March 2021. The PEP-
11 permit will continue in force for a period of 2 months from 17 January 2025. The Joint Venture has 
statutory legal rights to seek a review of the decision referred to in the notice under the Offshore 
Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006.  

On 12 February 2025 Advent applied to the Federal Court for an Originating Application for judicial 
review pursuant to section 5 of the Administrative Decisions (Judicial Review) Act 1977 (Cth) and 
section 39B of the Judiciary Act 1903 (Cth) to review this decision of the Commonwealth-New South 
Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority, constituted under section 56 of the Offshore Petroleum and 
Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006 (Cth). The Originating Application seeks:  

1. An order quashing or setting aside the Decision;  
2. A declaration that the Decision is void and of no effect; and  
3. An order remitting the First Application and Second Application to the Joint Authority for 

reconsideration according to law. 

On 17 March 2025 the Federal Court made orders by consent including the operation of the decision 
of the Commonwealth-New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority comprised of the first 
respondent and the second respondent made on 16 January 2025 is suspended with effect from 16 
January 2025, until further order of the Federal Court. The parties have complied with all programming 
orders and the matter is now listed for hearing on 16 and 17 September 2025. 

The directors have confidence that a suitable outcome will be achieved however there is no certainty 
at this stage that the application will be successful and / or of further funding being made available. If 
Asset Energy loses its right of tenure in respect of PEP-11 then the book value of capitalised 
exploration and evaluation expenditure of $16.15 million will need to be written off to the Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in Asset. In the meantime, PEP 11 continues in force 
and the Joint Venture is in compliance with the contractual terms of PEP 11 with respect to such 
matters as reporting, payment of rents and the various provisions of the Offshore Petroleum and 
Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006. 

 
The above conditions indicate a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the ability of 
Advent to realise the carrying value of the exploration assets in the ordinary course of business and 
may cast doubt on the ability of the Company to realise the carrying value of its loan receivables and 
its investment in Advent in the ordinary course of business. 
 
(ii) Molecular Discovery Systems Limited 

 
The carrying value of Molecular Discovery Systems Limited is fully impaired. The Molecular Discovery 
Systems Limited 30 June 2025 financial statements are still in the process of being audited. 
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                        Consolidated 

    2025 ($) 2024 ($) 
12. Income Tax Expense      

 (a) The prima facie tax on the profit from operations 
before income tax is reconciled to the income tax as 
follows: 

     

Accounting profit before tax    6,785,888 4,555,368 
Prima facie expense on the profit from operations 
before income tax at 30% (2024: 30%) 

   2,035,766 1,366,610 

Add tax effect of amounts not deductible in calculating 
taxable income 

   (2,126,356) (1,593,900) 

Tax effect of revenue losses and temporary  
differences not brought to account  

   90,590 227,290 

Income tax expense     - - 

 (b)  Tax losses       
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has 
been recognised 

   15,584,188 
 

15,065,913 
 

Potential tax benefit at 30% (2024: 30%)    4,675,256 4,519,774 
 
 13. Trade and Other Payables 
 

Current      
Trade payables - unrelated    6,330 37,623 
Trade payables - related    - 11,000 
Other payables and accrued expenses - unrelated      85,386 85,562 
Related party payables    520,680 765,811 
    612,396 899,996 
      

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled within 45 days.  
, 

14. Financial Liabilities 
 

Current       
Borrowings – unsecured – related - interest free    84,823 84,823 

    84,823 84,823 
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               Consolidated 

    2025 $ 2024 $ 
15.    Issued Capital  

1,218,232,816 (2024: 1,147,548,172) fully paid ordinary shares  
 

67,563,026 66,360,477 

 
(a) Ordinary Shares 

   

                       Consolidated                   Consolidated 

 2025 
$ 

2024 
$ 

 2025 
Number 

2024 
Number 

      
At the beginning of reporting period 66,360,477 61,883,062  1,147,548,172 930,235,499 
 
Shares issued for cash 1,063,477 5,204,898  58,622,360 215,130,855 
Shares issued – share based 
payments - 72,000  - 2,181,818 
Share issue costs - cash (127,046) (398,567)  - - 
Share issue costs – share-based 
payments (109,949) (400,916)  - - 
Loss on securities issued in 
extinguishment of debt - share-based 
payments 26,198 - 

  
 

- 

 
 

- 
Securities issued in extinguishment of 
debt 349,869 - 

  
12,062,284 

 
- 

At the end of reporting period 67,563,026 66,360,477  1,218,232,816 1,147,548,172 
 
Fully paid ordinary shares do not have a par value, have one vote per share, and carry the right to 
dividends. The market price of the Company's ordinary shares at 30 June 2025 on ASX was 0.8 cents 
per share.  
 
(b) Options 
 
Refer to Note 26 for the movement of options on issue during the financial year. The holders of options 
do not have the right, by virtue of the option, to participate in any share issue or interest issue of any 
other body corporate or registered scheme. 
 
(c)       Capital risk management  
 
The Group’s and the parent entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to 
continue as a going concern, so that they may continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders. The focus of the Group’s capital risk management is the current working capital 
position against the requirements of the Group to meet corporate overheads. The strategy is to ensure 
appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating 
appropriate capital raisings as required. The working capital position of the Group at 30 June 2025 and 
30 June 2024 is as follows: 

            Consolidated 
     2025 ($) 2024 ($) 
       

Cash and cash equivalents     4,066,281 6,423,045 
Trade receivables and financial assets      6,641,514 3,866,839 
Prepayments     39,450 31,166 
Trade payables and financial liabilities     (697,219) (984,819) 
Net working capital position     10,050,026 9,336,231 

 
Refer to Note 1 for further details of the Group’s financial position and plans to manage the working 
capital deficit at 30 June 2025.  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2025 
BPH Energy Ltd and its controlled entities 

46 
 

            Consolidated 
     2025 ($) 2024 ($) 

 
16. Reserves 
 

Option premium reserve (a)    1,040,560 438,819 
Share based payments reserve (b)    3,339,139 2,743,808 
    4,379,699 3,182,627 

 
(a) Option premium reserve 
 
The option premium reserve records items recognised on the issue of options for capital raising 
purposes. 
 
(b) Share based payments reserve 
 
The share based payments reserve records the valuation of securities issued as share based payments. 

 
17. Controlled Entities 
 

Name of Entity Principal Activity Country of 
Incorporation 

Entity Type Tax Residency Ownership Interest  

              % 

Parent Entity 
BPH Energy Limited 

 
Investment 

 
 
Australia 

 

Body Corporate 

 

Australia 
     2025      2024 
 

Subsidiaries 
     

 
Diagnostic Array 
Systems Pty Ltd 

BioMedical 
Research 

Australia Body Corporate Australia      51.82      51.82 

 
BPH owns a 51.82% equity interest in Diagnostic Array Systems Pty Ltd (“DAS”) and consequentially controls 
more than half of the voting power of those shares. Mr David Breeze is the Chairman of both entities. BPH 
therefore has control over the financial and operating policies of DAS. DAS is controlled by BPH and is 
consolidated in these financial statements. DAS’s loss for the year was $1,992 (2024: loss of $3,324) of which 
$961 (2024: $1,602) is attributable to minority interests. DAS’s total assets at year-end were $613 (2024: $565), 
total liabilities $374,829 (2024: $372,789), and negative equity $374,216 (2024: $372,224). 
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                 Consolidated 
      
    2025 2024 
    $ $ 

18. Cash Flow Information 
 
(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax: 

 

  

Operating profit after income tax    6,785,888 4,555,368 
      
Non-cash items:       
Fair value gain    (6,930,231) (5,664,419) 
Impairment reversed    (21,959) (20,493) 
Interest and fee revenue on loans    (617,634) (742,028) 
Share-based payments    536,525 454,620 
Consulting fees satisfied by share issue of Company    - 72,000 
Expected credit loss     110,400 102,352 
Share of associates’ (gains) / losses    (672,466) 257,246 
      
Changes in net assets and liabilities      
Increase  / (decrease) in other assets    (8,284) 18,834 
Decrease in trade and other receivables    8,094 21,579 
Increase in trade payables and accruals    72,737 3,432 
Net cash (used in) operating activities    (736,930) (941,509) 

 
(b)     Reconciliation of cash 

 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of  
cashflows is reconciled to items in the statement of financial position as  
follows: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents    4,066,281 6,423,045 

 
 
(c) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities – unsecured   

borrowings  
 

At the beginning of reporting period  84,823 88,265 
Repayment of loan - (3,442) 
At the end of reporting period 84,823 84,823 

 
19. Subsequent Events  
 
There are no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year other than 
outlined elsewhere in this financial report that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the 
operations of the consolidated entity, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated 
entity in future financial years. 
 

. 
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20. Financial Risk Management 
 
a) Financial Risk Management 

 
The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, investments, accounts 
receivable and payable, and loans to and from third parties. The main purpose of non-derivative 
financial instruments is to raise finance for Group operations. 

 
The main risks the Group is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity 
risk, credit risk and equity price risk.   
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate financial assets. The Group’s 
financial liabilities are currently not exposed to interest rate risk as the Group has no interest bearing 
financial liabilities.  

 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows.  
 
Credit risk 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance 
date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of 
those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.  
 
Equity price risk  
 
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its shareholdings in listed ands unlisted entities. 
Material investments are managed on an individual basis. 

 
 Foreign currency risk 
 

The Group is not exposed to any material risks in relation to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates.  
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
b) Financial Instruments 
 

Interest rate risk 
 

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest 
rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities with floating rates, based on contractual 
maturities, is as follows: 
 

2025 Consolidated 

Weighted 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 
% 

Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
 

$ 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
1 Year or 

less $ 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
1 to 5 

Years $ 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 
$ 

Total 
 
 
 

$ 

Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 4.34 369,536 3,696,745 - - 4,066,281 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 74,944 74,944 
Financial assets 6.63 - 6,428,792 1,837,716 22,510,045 30,776,553 
  369,536 10,125,537 1,837,716 22,584,989 34,917,778 

Liabilities       
Trade and other payables - - - - 612,396 612,396 
Financial liabilities - - - - 84,823 84,823 
  - - - 697,219 697,219 

 
 

2024 Consolidated 

Weighted 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 
% 

Floating 
Interest 

Rate 
 

$ 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
1 Year or 

less $ 

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate 
1 to 5 

Years $ 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 
$ 

Total 
 
 
 

$ 

Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 3.71 2,423,045 4,000,000 - - 6,423,045 
Trade and other receivables - - - - 83,038 83,038 
Financial assets 6.18 - 3,761,579 2,489,808 13,965,108 20,216,495 
  2,423,045 7,761,579 2,489,808 14,048,146 26,722,578 

Liabilities       
Trade and other payables - - - - 899,996 899,996 
Financial liabilities - - - - 84,823 84,823 
  - - - 984,819 984,819 
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
b) Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Fair Values 

 
The fair values of: 
 
 Term receivables are determined by discounting the cash flows, at the market interest rates 

of similar securities, to their present value. 
 Other loans and amounts due are determined by discounting the cash flows, at market 

interest rates of similar borrowings to their present value. 
 For unlisted investments where there is no organised financial market, the fair value has been 

based on valuation techniques incorporating non-market data. 
  

No financial assets (other than investments in listed entities) or financial liabilities are readily 
traded on organised markets in standardised form. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Sensitivity Analysis – Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance 
date.  This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which 
could result from a change in these risks. The effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the 
variable interest rate, with all other variables remaining constant would be as follows: 
 
             Consolidated 
   2025 2024 
   $ $ 
Change in profit / (loss)     
— Increase in interest rate 1%  52,865 58,660 
— Decrease in interest rate by 0.5%  (26,432) (29,330) 

 
 
 
 

 
 
  

         Consolidated         Consolidated 
        2025        2024 

 Carrying 
Amount Fair Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

 
Fair Value 

 $ $ $ $ 

Financial Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 4,066,281 4,066,281 6,423,045 6,423,045 
Investment in unlisted entities 22,372,267  22,372,267  13,942,886  13,942,886  
Investment in listed entities 137,778 137,778    22,222    22,222 
Financial assets and trade and other 
receivables  

 
8,341,452 

 
8,341,452 

  
6,334,425 

  
6,334,425 

 34,917,778 34,917,778 26,722,578 26,722,578 
Financial Liabilities     
Other loans and amounts due 84,823 84,823 84,823 84,823 
Trade  and other payables  612,396 612,396 899,996 899,996 
 697,219 697,219 984,819 984,819 
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
b)   Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and borrowing facilities, by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Liquidity is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with 
its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. 
  
 The following are the contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of consolidated financial 
liabilities. 

30 June 2025 
Carrying 
amount Total 

 2 mths or 
less  2-12 mths   

 $ $ $ $ 
Financial liabilities 
       

  

Trade and other payables 612,396 612,396 31,802 580,594 
Unsecured loans 84,823 84,823 - 84,823 

 697,219 697,219 31,802 665,417 

30 June 2024 
Carrying 
amount Total 

 2 mths or 
less  2-12 mths   

 $ $ $ $ 
Financial liabilities 
       

  

Trade and other payables 899,996 899,996 74,313 825,683 
Unsecured loans 84,823 84,823 - 84,823 

 984,819 984,819 74,313 910,506 
 

     
(c)      Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position 
 

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial 
recognition at fair value, grouped into levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observable. 
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20. Financial Risk Management (continued) 
 
(c) Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position (continued) 
 

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices). 

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs 
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 
There were no transfers between the levels for recurring fair value measurements during the year. 

 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include (i) for unlisted investments 
where there is no organised financial market, the fair value has been based on valuation techniques 
incorporating non-market data. 
 
30 June 2025 $ $ $ $ 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     

- Investments in unlisted entities - 8,110,761 14,261,506 22,372,267 
- Investments in listed entities 137,778 - - 137,778 

Total 137,778 8,110,761 14,261,506 22,510,045 
 
30 June 2024 $ $ $ $ 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss     

- Investments in unlisted entities - 6,488,606 7,454,280 13,942,886 
- Investments in listed entities 22,222 - - 22,222 

Total 22,222 6,488,606 7,454,280 13,965,108 
 
Reconciliation of fair value measurements of financial assets: 
 
 2025 ($) 2025 ($) 2025 ($) 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Opening balance 22,222 6,488,606 7,454,280 
Exercise of share options - - 327,206 
Fair value gain  15,556 1,622,155 5,292,520 
Acquisition of investments 100,000 - 1,187,500 
Closing balance 137,778 8,110,761 14,261,506 
 
 2024 ($) 2024 ($) 2024 ($) 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Opening balance 22,222 6,488,606 1,144,492 
Exercise of share options - - 305,417 
Fair value gain on unlisted investment - - 5,664,419 
Options received as a loan arrangement fee - - 339,952 
Closing balance 22,222 6,488,606 7,454,280 
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21. Related Party Transactions 
 

Grandbridge Limited, a Company of which Mr Breeze is Managing Director, charged the Company $128,640 
(2024: $128,640) in service fees during the period. At balance date a $84,823 loan (2024: $84,823) was 
payable to Grandbridge. The consolidated entity repaid Grandbridge net $Nil during the period (2024: 
$1,452). The Company was owed $26,092 by Grandbridge at balance date (2024: $Nil), refer Note 9. 
 
The Company charged Associate Advent Energy Limited, a company of which Mr Breeze is a director, 
$378,048 loan interest during the period (2024: $237,111). The Company advanced a net loan of $1,762,100 
to the Advent group during the period (2024: $2,420,000), and set off a loan amount to Advent of $1,187,500, 
being US$760,000, in relation to an investment in CHT subsequent to BPH shareholder approval obtained 
in October 2024. The Advent group owed the Company $6,497,683 at period end (30 June 2024: 
$5,545,035). Refer to Notes 10 and 11 for the Company’s investment and loan receivables. The loan is 
unsecured. 

 
The Company charged MDS, a Company of which Mr Breeze is Managing Director, $89,400 loan interest 
during the period (2024: $82,352) on a convertible loan with a balance of $1,092,331 at year end (2024: 
$1,002,931). The Company has raised a provision against the full amount of this loan. In addition, a loan 
receivable exists between the Group and MDS of $747,700 (2024: $726,700). The Company lent MDS 
$21,000 during the period (2024: $20,000). The Company has raised a provision against the full amount of 
this loan. An expected credit loss provision of $110,400 (2024: $102,352) was recorded against the loan. The 
loan is fully provided for at period end. The Company recognised an impairment reversal of $21,959 (2024: 
reversal of $20,493) in respect the carrying value of its investment in MDS. Refer to Note 11 for the 
Company’s investment in MDS. 
 
The Company charged MEC Resources Limited (“MEC”), a Company of which Mr Breeze is a director, $5,292 
interest during the period (2024: $11,431). MEC repaid its outstanding loan including accrued interest in full 
of $179,914 during the period. During the period the Company acquired 20,000,000 shares together with 
10,000,000 free attaching options (with an exercise price of $0.03 each and expiry 21 November 2025) for a 
cost of $100,000. The Company has an investment of $137,778 at fair value in MEC at period end. 
 
The Company advanced net loans of $1,092,202 (2024 advanced net loans: $500,000) to investee Cortical 
and charged loan interest and loan establishment fees of $144,894 (2024: $31,730) during the period. Cortical 
owed the Company $1,768,825 at period end classified as a current asset, refer note 10, (2024: $531,730) of 
which $500,000 is secured against Research and Development tax incentive refunds. The Company has an 
investment of $8,110,761 in Cortical at period end (2024: $6,488,806). Refer to Note 10 for the Company’s 
investment in Cortical Dynamics Limited.  
 
Director David Breeze was issued 5,000,000 Incentive Options with an exercise price of $0.03 and expiry 30 
October 2025 subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s November 2024 Annual General 
Meeting. The Incentive Options were fair valued at $9,781. 
 
The Company awarded 58,000,000 Performance Rights to Director David Breeze under the Company’s 
Incentive Performance Rights and Options Plan subsequent to approval at the Company’s November 2023 
Annual General Meeting. The Performance Rights shall vest upon approval by the Commonwealth - New 
South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension application 
(Milestone). If the Milestone has not been achieved prior to 30 November 2028, the Performance Rights will 
automatically lapse and will not be converted into shares. The Performance Rights have a fair value of $0.041 
each. The Performance Rights were fair valued at based on the share price on the date of shareholder 
approval, being 4.1 cents each. A share based payments expense of $475,600 has been recognised in 
respect of the current year. The Performance Rights have not been issued at the date of this financial report. 
 
Mr Breeze exercised 10,000,000 unlisted share options during the period with an exercise price of $0.03 each, 
satisfied by the set-off of $300,000 fees owing to him. A share based payment of $23,391 was recognised in 
respect of the accounting loss on debt settlement.. He also subscribed for 9,121,678 share options at a cost 
of $0.001 each satisfied by the set-off of amounts $9,122 fees owing to him. A share based payment of 
$21,337 was recognised in respect of the accounting loss on debt settlement. 
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21.   Related Party Transactions (continued) 
 
Director Charles Maling exercised unlisted 1,200,000  share options during the period with an exercise price 
of $0.02 each, satisfied by the set-off of $24,000 fees owing to him. A share based payment of $2,807 was 
recognised in respect of the accounting loss on debt settlement. He also exercised 862,284 listed share 
options with an exercise price of $0.03 each, satisfied by the set-off of $25,869 fees owing to him. 
 
Director Tony Huston subscribed for 1,542,762 share options at a cost of $0.001 each satisfied by the set-off 
of $1,543 fees owing to him. A share based payment of $3,609 was recognised in respect of the accounting 
loss on debt settlement. 
 
The Company has an agreement with Trandcorp Pty Limited on normal commercial terms procuring the 
services of David Breeze to provide product development services for $98,000 (2024: $98,000) per annum in 
addition to his director’s fees. Refer to the Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report for shares and options 
issued to directors. Details of directors’ remuneration and retirement benefits are located in the Directors 
Report and Note 6. 
 
Director Tony Huston was paid $10,000 consultant fees during the period in addition to his director fees. 
 
The % of ordinary shares held in controlled entities is disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements. 
 
Other than the above, and director fees, there have been no material related party transactions during the 
period. 

 
22.     Commitments and Contingencies  
 

At reporting date there are no capital commitments or contingencies other than those of associate 
Advent Energy Limited, an entity in which the Company currently has a 35.8% direct interest as 
disclosed in Note 11. 
 

23.      Operating Segments  
 

Operating segments have been identified on the basis of internal reports of the Company that are 
regularly reviewed by  the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments 
and to assess their performance. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board 
of Directors. On a regular basis, the board receives financial information on the Group on a basis similar 
to the financial statements presented in the financial report, to manage and allocate their resources.   
 
The Group’s only operating segment is investments. The Group holds investments in two principal 
industries and these are:  
 

- biotechnology,  
- oil, gas and hydrogen exploration and development  

 
24.     Non-Controlling Interests 
 

The consolidated financial statements include subsidiaries with non-controlling interests. However, the 
financial impact of these interests is not material to the consolidated entity. Accordingly, detailed 
disclosures required under AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities and AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements have not been presented. 
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25.     Share-Based Payments 
 

The following share-based payment arrangements (share options) existed at 30 June 2025: 

Total 
number 

 
Grant Date Exercise 

price 

Fair value 
at grant 
date 

Expiry date 
    

5,250,000 November 2023 $0.05 $0.0337 7 December 2028 
5,000,000 November 2024 $0.03 $0.002 30 October 2025 

27,331,1071 August and October 2024 $0.03 $0.005 29 October 2025 
     

37,581,107     
 
1. Consisting of 10,664,440 held by directors and their related entities, and 16,666,667 issued to brokers for services provided 

 
Issues during the period 
 
The Company issued Oakley Capital Partners Pty Limited (“Oakley Capital”) or their associate 13,888,889 
Broker Options as part of their fees for the August 2024 share placement. The Broker Options have an 
exercise price of $0.03 each and an expiry date of 29 October 2025. The options were valued with a Black 
and Scholes option pricing model an attributed a fair value of $91,624. 

 
The Company issued 62 Capital Limited (“62 Capital”) or their associate 2,777,778 Broker Options as part 
of their fees for the August 2024 share placement. The Broker Options have an exercise price of $0.03 
each and an expiry date of 29 October 2025. The options were valued with a Black and Scholes option 
pricing model an attributed a fair value of $18,325. 
 
Director David Breeze was issued 5,000,000 Incentive Options with an exercise price of $0.03 and expiry 
30 October 2025 subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s November 2024 Annual General 
Meeting. The Incentive Options were fair valued at $9,782. 
 
The Company awarded 58,000,000 Performance Rights to Director David Breeze under the Company’s 
Incentive Performance Rights and Options Plan subsequent to approval at the Company’s November 
2023 Annual General Meeting. The Performance Rights shall vest upon approval by the Commonwealth 
- New South Wales Offshore Petroleum Joint Authority (Joint Authority) of the PEP11 Permit extension 
application (Milestone). If the Milestone has not been achieved prior to 30 November 2028, the 
Performance Rights will automatically lapse and will not be converted into shares. The Performance 
Rights have not been issued at the date of this report. 
 
The Company issued 9,121,678 share options to director David Breeze and associates in respect of an 
October 2024 listed option placement at $0.01 per option, settled by the set-off of $9,122 in fees owing. 
A loss of $21,337 was recognized in respect of this share based settlement. 
 
The Company issued 10,000,000 shares to director David Breeze and associates in respect of unlisted 
options exercised at $0.03 per option, settled by the set-off of $300,000 in fees owing. A loss of $23,391 
was recognized in respect of this share based settlement. 
 
The Company issued 1,542,762 share options to director Tony Huston in respect of an October 2024 
listed option placement at $0.01 per option, settled by the set-off of $1,543 in fees owing. A loss of $3,609 
was recognized in respect of this share based settlement. 
 
The Company issued 1,200,000 shares to director Charles Maling in respect of unlisted options exercised 
at $0.02 per option, settled by the set-off of $24,000 in fees owing. A loss of $2,807 was recognized in 
respect of this share based settlement. 
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25.    Share-Based Payments (continued) 

 
The fair value of unlisted options granted is estimated using a Black and Scholes option pricing model 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. Performance Rights 
are valued using the Company’s prevailing share price at the date of award. Listed options are valued 
using the Company’s prevailing listed option price at the date of award. The following table lists the inputs 
to the valuation model used: 

 
Grant / settlement date 7 August 2024 30 November 20234 28 November 2024 

Number of options 16,666,667 - 5,000,000 
Number of Performance 
Rights 

 
- 

 
58,000,000 

 
- 

Share price at grant / 
settlement date 

 
$0.022 

 
$0.41 

 
$0.013 

Exercise price $0.03 N/A $0.03 
Expected volatility 100% N/A 100% 
Expected life 1 year 5 years 1 year 
Expected dividends Nil N/A Nil 
Risk-free interest rate 3.5% N/A 3.5% 
Fair value at grant date $109,949 $2,378,000 $9,782 

 
The share-based payments can be summarised as follows: 
 
 30 June 

2024 ($) 
30 June 
2024 ($) 

   
Share-based payments expense – capital raising costs   
Broker options 109,9491 400,916 
 109,949 400,916 
   
Share-based payments expense – share based payments 
reserve 

  

Broker options 109,9491 400,9161 
Director Performance Rights issue 475,6002 277,542 
Incentive Options 9,7823 177,078 
 595,331 855,536 
   
Share-based payments expense – profit or loss   
Director Performance Rights issue2 475,6002 277,542 
Incentive Options3 9,7823 177,078 
Loss on securities issued in extinguishment of debt 51,143 - 
 536,525 454,620 
   
Share-based payments expense – ordinary share capital   
Loss on shares issued in extinguishment of debt 26,198 - 
 26,198 - 
   
Share-based payments expense – option premium reserve   
Loss on options issued in extinguishment of debt 24,945 - 
 24,945 - 

 

1 Fees to the lead managers in relation to an August 2024 share placement and form part of the capital raising costs 
2 Performance Rights awarded to a director subsequent to shareholder approval at the Company’s November 2023 Annual General 

Meeting 
3 Incentive Options issued to director as part of remuneration 
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26.     Share Options 

 
All options granted confer a right of one ordinary share for every option held. The number of share options on issue 
at period end was as follows: 
 

 
The movement in share options during the period is as follows: 

             Consolidated 2025 2024 

   Number of 
Options 

Weighted 
Average  

Exercise Price $ 

Number of 
Options 

Weighted  
Average Exercise 

Price $ 
Outstanding at the beginning of the year  599,797,113 0.03 

 
 438,656,198 0.03 

Expired  (581,795,250) 0.03 - - 
Exercised  (12,751,863) 0.03 (3,122,731) 0.03 
Issued for cash  566,130,790 0.03 - - 
Issued as free attaching options  28,966,387 0.03 107,091,979 0.03 
Issued as broker options  16,666,667 0.03 51,916,667 0.03 
Issued as cleansing options  - - 5,000 0.03 
Issued as share-based payments  5,000,000 0.03 5,250,000 0.05 
Issues in exchange for debt settlement  10,664,440 0.03 - - 
Outstanding at year-end  632,678,284 0.03 599,797,113 0.03 
Exercisable at year-end  632,678,284 0.03 599,797,113 0.03 

 
         Company 
    June 2025                  

$ 
June 2024 

$ 

27.    Parent Entity Disclosures       
Financial Position  
 

Assets      
Current assets     10,739,432 10,320,484 
Non-current assets    28,358,807 19,879,886 
Total asset     39,098,239 30,200,370 
    
Liabilities       
Current liabilities      612,352 899,992 
Total liabilities      612,352 899,992 
      
Equity       
Issued capital     67,563,026 66,360,477 
Accumulated losses     (33,456,838) (40,242,726) 
Option reserve    4,379,699 3,182,627 
Total equity     38,485,887 29,300,378 

 
Financial Performance 

 
Profit after tax for the year    6,785,888 4,555,368 
Other comprehensive income     - - 
Total comprehensive profit    6,785,888 4,555,368 

Grant Date Date of Expiry Exercise Price Number Under Option 
August and October 2024 29 October 2025 $0.03 622,428,284 

November 2025 30 October 2025 $0.03 5,000,000 

November 2023 7 December 2028 $0.05 5,250,000 
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Basis of preparation 

The consolidated entity disclosure statement has been prepared in accordance with the s295(3A)(a) of the Corporations 
Act 2001 and includes the required information for BPH Energy Limited and the entities it controls in accordance with 
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Tax Residency 

S295(3A)(vi) of the Corporations Act 2001 defines tax residency as having the meaning in the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1997. The determination of tax residency may involve judgement as there are different interpretation that could be 
adopted and which could give rise to different conclusions regarding residency. 

In determining tax residency , the Group has applied the following interpretations: 

Australian Tax Residency 

Current legislation and judicial precent has been applied, including having regard to the Tax Commissioner’s public 
guidance. 

Foreign tax residency 

Where appropriate, independent tax advisers have been engaged to assist in the determination of tax residence to ensure 
applicable foreign tax legislation has been complied with. 

Name of Entity Principal Activity Country of 
Incorporation 

Entity Type Tax Residency Ownership Interest  
              % 

Parent Entity 
BPH Energy 
Limited 

 
Investment 

 
 
Australia 

 

Body Corporate 

 

Australia 
        

Subsidiaries      
 
Diagnostic Array 
Systems Pty Ltd 

BioMedical 
Research 

Australia Body Corporate Australia               51.82 
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The directors of the Company declare that: 
 
1. the financial statements and notes as set out on pages 25 to 57 are in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 and: 
 

(a) Comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements 
 

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of the performance for the 
year ended on that date of the consolidated entity 

 
(c) the Consolidated Entity Disclosure Statement is true and correct. 
 

2. in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they become due and payable; 

 
3. the financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed 

in Note 1; and 
 
4. the directors have been given the declarations required by S295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to S295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

 
 
David Breeze  
Executive Chairman 
Dated this 27th August 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Members of BPH Energy Limited  
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion  

We have audited the financial report of BPH Energy Limited  (“the Company”) and its controlled entities (“the 
Group”), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2025, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial 
statements, including material accounting policy information, the consolidated entity disclosure statement 
and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including:  
 
(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its financial 

performance for the year then ended; and  
 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements 
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (“the Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Emphasis of Matter - Material uncertainty related to the carrying value of the loan receivable from, and 
investment in, Advent Energy Limited 
 
We draw attention to Note 11 in the financial report, which indicates that a material uncertainty exists in 
relation to the Group’s ability to realise the carrying value of its loan receivable from, and investment in, 
Advent Energy Limited in the ordinary course of business. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 
 
Key Audit Matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.  
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In addition to the matter described in the Emphasis of Matter - Material uncertainty related to the carrying 
value of the loan receivable from, and investment in, Advent Energy Limited section, we have determined 
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.  
 

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Investments accounted for using equity method 
Note 11 

As at 30 June 2025, the carrying value of the 
investments accounted for using the equity 
method was $4,225,878 and the Group’s share 
of the associates’ profits was $672,466. 
 
We considered this to be a key audit matter as 
it is important to users’ understanding of the 
financial statements as a whole and involved 
significant levels of judgement. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to the 
following; 
- We agreed the share of losses to the associates’ 

audited financial statements; 
- We reviewed the disclosures made in the financial 

statements; 
- We considered if there were indicators of impairment 

present;  
- We reviewed the disclosures made in the financial 

statements, and 
- We have included an emphasis of matter paragraph 

above in relation to recoverability of the investment 
in, and loan receivable from, Advent Energy Limited. 

Valuation of financial assets 
Note 10 

As at 30 June 2025, the Group had recorded 
financial assets comprising loan receivables 
with a carrying value of $8,266,508 and 
investments at a fair value of $22,510,045. 
 
We considered this to be a key audit matter as 
it is important to users’ understanding of the 
financial statements as a whole and involves 
judgement in relation to the determination of fair 
value and expected credit losses 

Our procedures included but were not limited to the 
following: 
- We considered the ability of the other party to repay 

its loan to the Group to determine if any additional 
expected credit loss provisions were required; 

- We confirmed the Group’s shareholdings in its 
investments; 

- We assessed the Group’s valuation of individual 
investment holdings; 

- For investments where there was less or little 
observable market data, including level 2 and 3 
holdings as disclosed in note 20, we obtained and 
assessed other relevant valuation data; and 

- We reviewed the disclosures made in the financial 
statements. 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2025, but does not include the financial 
report and our auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report, or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 
 
(a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair 

view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001; and 
 

(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, and 
 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 
 
(a) the financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true and fair 

view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 
 

(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
− Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

− Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

− Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.  

− Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
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− If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.  

− Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.  

 
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit.  
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats 
or safeguards applied.  
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
REPORT ON THE REMUNERATION REPORT  
 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included within the Directors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 
2025.  
 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of BPH Energy Limited for the year ended 30 June 2025 complies 
with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Responsibilities 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 
Report in accordance with Section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HLB Mann Judd D B Healy  
Chartered Accountants Partner 
 
Perth, Western Australia 
27 August 2025 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



Additional Securities Exchange Information 
BPH Energy Limited  

64 
 

 
Additional information required by Australian Securities Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this 
report as follows. 
 
The information is stated as at 15 August 2025. 
 
 
1. Substantial Shareholder 
 
 The names of shareholders who have lodged a substantial shareholder notice with ASX are: 
 

Shareholder Shares % 

David Breeze, Trandcorp Pty Ltd, Grandbridge Limited 69,750,805 5.73% 
 
2. (a) Distribution of Shareholders 
 

Range of Holding Shareholders Number of Ordinary 
Shares 

% 

1 – 1,000 1,022 319,553 0.03% 
1,001 – 5,000 1,275 3,955,078 0.32% 
5,001 – 10,000 947 7,353,803 0.60% 
10,001 – 100,000 3,054 121,476,695 9.97% 
100,001 and over 1,504 1,085,127,687 89.07% 
 7,802 1,218,232,816 100.00% 

  
The number of shareholders holding an unmarketable parcel was 4,837. 

 
           (b) Distribution of Unlisted Option Holders 
 

Range of Holding Option Holders Number of Options % 
    
100,001 and over 4 10,250,000 100.00 

 
(a) Distribution of Listed Option Holders( with an exercise price of $0.03 each and expiry date of 29 

October 2025) 
 

Range of Holding Optionholders Number of Options % 
1 – 1,000 12 6,037 0.00% 
1,001 – 5,000 20 60,127 0.01% 
5,001 – 10,000 12 85,680 0.01% 
10,001 – 100,000 70 3,618,150 0.58% 
100,001 and over 254 618,658,290 99.39% 
 368 622,428,284 100.00% 

 
3. Voting Rights - Shares 
 
 All ordinary shares issued by BPH Energy Limited carry one vote per share without restriction. 
 
4. Voting Rights - Options 
 
 The holders of options do not have the right to vote. 
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5. Restricted Securities 

 
There are no restricted securities on issue. 
 

6. On-Market Buyback 
 

There is no current on-market buyback. 
 
7. Twenty Largest Shareholders 
 
 The names of the twenty largest shareholders of the ordinary shares of the Company are: 
 

 Name Number of ordinary 
fully paid shares 

% held of issued 
ordinary capital 

1 Trandcorp Pty Ltd 47,734,475 3.92% 
2 JGM Property Investments Pty Ltd 30,000,000 2.46% 
3 Markovic Family No 2 Pty Ltd 27,672,159 2.27% 
4 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 17,653,444 1.45% 
5 Finclear Services Pty Ltd 

<Superhero Securities A/C> 
14,119,234 1.16% 

6 Trandcorp Pty Ltd 
<Trandcorp Super Fund A/C> 

13,222,497 1.09% 

7 Mr Chris Strat 12,101,410 0.99% 
8 Blue Tree Pty Ltd 

<Blue Tree Superanuation A/C> 
11,319,754 0.93% 

9 PDM Global Pty Ltd 11,111,111 0.91% 
10 SJM Electrical & Data Pty Ltd 10,000,000 0.82% 
11 Mr Anthony Huston 9,438,070 0.77% 
12 Strat Super Fund 

<Strat S/F Account> 
8,850,369 0.73% 

13 BNP Paribas 8,387,932 0.69% 
14 Mr Jibran Hameed 8,302,514 0.68% 
15 Anstey Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd 

<Anstey Family S/F A/C> 
7,527,777 0.62% 

16 Mr Charles Verdon Maling 7,337,428 0.60% 
17 Miss Ruth Amanda Stroppiana 7,320,000 0.60% 
18 Mary Williams Pty Ltd 

<Bruce Williams Sf A/C> 
7,277,778 0.60% 

19 Mr Paul Nicholas Attard 7,000,000 0.57% 
20 Mr Daniel Patrick Corry Massie 6,277,880 0.52% 
  Total 272,653,832 22.38% 
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8. Twenty Largest Listed Option Holders 
 
 The names of the twenty largest listed option holders of the Company (with an exercise price of $0.03 

each and expiry date of 29 October 2025) are: 
 

 Name Number of share 
options 

% held of listed 
share options 

1 Dr Kong Jung Au Yong 65,236,798 10.48% 
2 Mr Lachlan James Mcalpine 20,000,000 3.21% 
3 Finclear Services Pty Ltd 

<Superhero Securities A/C> 
19,191,543 3.08% 

4 Arlewis Pty Ltd 
<Lewis Family Super Fund A/C> 

17,105,000 2.75% 

5 CCK Pty Limited 
<CCK Super Fund A/C> 

16,080,383 2.58% 

6 Tsol Nominees Pty Ltd 15,000,000 2.41% 
7 Mr Chris Strat 15,000,000 2.41% 
8 Mr David Spence 13,251,590 2.13% 
9 Markovic Family No 2 Pty Ltd 12,344,177 1.98% 
10 Mr Craig Andrew Peters 11,075,000 1.78% 
11 Mr Muhammad Arif Khan 10,002,183 1.61% 
12 VW Investments Pty Ltd 

<VW Family A/C> 
10,000,000 1.61% 

13 Mr Derek Declan Bruton 10,000,000 1.61% 
14 Mr John Frank Borgogno 8,979,992 1.44% 
15 Mr Patrice Ciani 8,888,000 1.43% 
16 Mr Allan Marsden Ritchie 8,014,458 1.29% 
17 Mrs Palak Hardik Shah 7,821,590 1.26% 
18 The High Club Ltd 7,629,000 1.23% 
19 Mr Zhifeng Chen 6,300,000 1.01% 
20 JGM Property Investments Pty Ltd 6,197,090 1.00% 
  Total 288,116,804 46.29% 
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